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Company Profile

Bosideng International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is the largest down apparel 

company in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) with four core down apparel brands, namely Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo 

and Bengen. Through product differentiation of its core brands, the Group satisfies different consumers and fosters its leading 

position in the PRC down apparel industry.

According to the data issued by China Industrial Information Issuing Center (“CIIIC”), Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo and Bengen 

accounted for 37.8%# of the PRC down apparel market in terms of sales in 2013. According to CIIIC and the National Bureau of 

Statistics of China, Bosideng has been the leading PRC down apparel brand for 19 consecutive years from 1995 to 2013. As a leader 

in the PRC down apparel industry, the Group presented the latest fashionable Fall/Winter apparel to the world on behalf of the PRC 

at the China International Clothing and Accessories Fair for 18 consecutive years.

Leveraging on its down apparel business, the Group is actively propelling the strategy of developing an evergreen business for 

four seasons and proactively exploring opportunities to acquire non-down apparel brands with high development potential and 

good reputation as and when appropriate so as to increase the proportion of non-down apparel business in the Group’s total sales.  

Currently, key non-down apparel brands of the Group include Bosideng MAN, JESSIE ladies’ wear and Mogao casual wear.

# Among the top 30 down apparel brands
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AchievementsAchievements

The Group endeavours to maintain its leading position in the down apparel industry and continues to strive for excellence in terms 

of product and quality. Its down apparel brands are well recognised and granted with awards and certificates by a number of 

institutions.

During the year, the awards received by the Group included:

• In October 2013, Bosideng and Snow Flying were ranked the 12th and 45th on the “2013 List of Most Valuable Brands in China” 

by R&F Global Ranking with a brand value of RMB28.229 billion and RMB7.573 billion, respectively;

• In March 2014, Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo and Bengen received certificates from the China General Chamber of Commerce 

and China National Commercial Information Centre for ranking 1st, 2nd, 5th and 9th, respectively in terms of market share of 

similar products;

• In March 2014, Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo and Bengen received certificates from the CIIIC for ranking 1st, 2nd, 5th and 6th, 

respectively in terms of sales of similar products;

• In March 2014, Bosideng branded down apparels received a certificate from the CIIIC as the most trusted brand by consumers 

for 2013.

Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/142



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14

Achievements

3



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14

Financial 
Highlights
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4

   

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012 

Revenue 8,237,894 9,324,539 8,376,062

Gross Profit 4,115,456 4,720,549 4,188,634

Profit from operations 865,470 1,271,670 1,621,393

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 694,704 1,078,650 1,436,642  

Non-current assets 2,900,778 2,540,443 2,517,817

Current assets 9,857,414 9,672,764 8,719,924

Current liabilities 2,807,280 3,634,987 3,286,641

Net current assets 7,050,134 6,037,777 5,433,283

Total assets 12,758,192 12,213,207 11,237,741

Total assets less current liabilities 9,950,912 8,578,220 7,951,100

Total equity 7,377,233 7,285,668 7,351,702  

Gross profit margin (%) 50.0 50.6 50.0

Operating margin (%) 10.5 13.6 19.4

Net profit margin (%)* 8.4 11.6 17.2

Earnings per share

– basic (RMB cents) 8.73 13.55 18.29

– diluted (RMB cents) 8.72 13.55 18.29  

* Net profit margin is calculated by profit attributable to equity holders of the Company as a percentage of revenue
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Revenue Analysis 
Revenue: RMB8,237.9 million Revenue: RMB9,324.5 million

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders 
RMB (million)

Basic Earnings Per Share 
RMB (cents)

1,436.6

1,078.7

694.7

2012

2013

2014

18.29

13.55

8.73

2012

2013

2014

2014

Branded down apparel OEM Management Non-down apparel

2013

1,275.9mn
(13.7%)

954.9mn
(10.2%)

880.5mn
(10.7%)

1,300.7mn
(15.8%)

7,093.7mn
(76.1%)

6,056.7mn
(73.5%)

Year ended 
March 31

Year ended 
March 31
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Dear Shareholders,

REVIEW

Last year was a tough year for the entire apparel industry. 

Faced with shrinking market demand, inventory backlog, 

competition from e-commerce and overseas fast fashion 

brands, the profitability across the industry decreased. Given 

the changing market environment, the apparel industry can no 

longer rely on low cost and mass production as in the past, the 

industry is undergoing a new era of transformation.

During the year, the Group managed to maintain its market 

leadership. Under the concerted efforts of our staff and 

experienced management team, the Group's Bosideng and 

Snow Flying brands continued to rank number one and two 

in terms of market share, whereas Combo and Bengen were 

among the top ten. The combined market share of the four 

brands accounted for 37.8%, ranked number one for the 19th 

consecutive year.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the apparel industry in China is undergoing a 

critical period of rapid transformation and upgrading, shifting 

from extensive expansion to refined development, emphasising 

quality over quantity and efficiency over scales. Under current 

market circumstances, lean management, data analysis 

and system construction are vital. Moreover, high-calibre 

management with professional management knowledge is 

crucial in order to provide the enterprise with leading business 

thinking and management solutions.

Market transformation provides opportunity and motivation 

for enterprises to reform. The Group will seize this opportunity 

to move towards a more refined and scientific management 

approach, with an aim to enhancing corporate competitiveness 

through refinements in the following areas:

1. Enhance the innovation capability of the enterprise: 

1) enhancing the core competit iveness through 

technological innovation; 2) adopting innovative brand 

building so the culture and spirit represented by the 

brand will resonate with the target consumers; 3) taking 

innovation in management philosophy and operating 

model.

2. Strengthen the connection between the enterprise and 

the consumers: 1) adopting a consumer experience-

oriented approach and exercising refined user-end 

management in light of the inevitable trend of retail 

transformation; 2) strengthening the marketing network 

and exploring online to offline (O2O) to develop in a 

dual-path platform.

3. Capability to expand into the international market: 

Instead of restra in ing our development in the 

domestic market and combating against the increasing 

competition from international brands, we should 

actively explore and develop the international market. 

Our UK flagship store in London will continue to 

develop in an orderly manner, whereas the Group will 

actively expand the export business of products under 

its own brand.
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4. Ability to integrate resources and achieve synergies 

among industry chain: 1) the integration of internal 

resources refers to the establishment of a resource 

sharing platform so that personnel, finance, goods, 

information and expertise are centralised under the 

same platform to enhance management capabilities 

and efficiencies as well as reduce operating costs; 

2) the integration of external resources refer to 

the establishment of a highly synergistic and quick 

response supply chain system, which is also known 

as the “win-win chain”. Apparel enterprises should 

maximise in each segment of the supply chain together 

with upstream and downstream enterprises and achieve 

integrated innovation across the supply chain.
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2014 is a very crucial year. I am delighted to have invited Dr. 

Liang Sheuh-Hvei to join the Group as CEO. This also signifies 

the Group's determination to reform this year. I believe that 

Dr. Liang's extensive industry experience and management 

capabilities will be a strong driver for implementing the 

reform on refined management and the establishment of the 

modern platform. I am also grateful that Dr. Liang Sheuh-

Hvei expressed his support to Bosideng and joined us in such 

a challenging time in the industry. I, as the chairman of the 

Board and executive director, will use my best endeavours to 

strive for success and development of the Company as I always 

did.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, I would like to express my sincere 

gratitude to all our employees. Also, I would like to thank our 

shareholders, distributors, suppliers and customers for their 

longstanding support!

Gao Dekang

Chairman of the Board

June 26, 2014
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Management Discussion
and Analysis
MARKET REVIEW

China’s economic growth slowed down, posing 
challenges to the apparel industry

The gross domestic product of China in 2013 amounted to 

RMB56.9 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 7.7%. 

It reflected that China has entered a period of moderate 

economic growth. Nevertheless, the Chinese government is 

more concerned about the quality of the country’s economic 

growth than growth rate. The government further enhanced 

the quality of China’s economy by vigorously promoting reform, 

structural adjustment and rebalancing of the economy. China 

will become a more consumption-driven than investment-

driven economy to realise sustainable development.

China’s apparel industry is going through the most challenging 

times in the decade. The retail sales of the country’s apparel 

products recorded a year-on-year growth of 11.5% in 2013, 

which was the lowest growth rate in the past ten years. The 

accumulated growth for January to March in 2014 dropped 

to 9% year-on-year, indicating deceleration in consumption 

growth. Rising raw material prices, labour costs and rental 

costs gradually eroded profit margin. Meanwhile, the industry 

is facing increasing competition due to over expansion in 

previous years, and E-commerce is further taking up market 

shares. The macroeconomic situation is full of changes, 

challenges, yet opportunities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Down Apparel Business

During the year, the business of down apparel was affected 

by macroeconomic environment and faced the general issues 

and challenges of the apparel industry. In addition, the 

temperature in autumn and winter last year was exceptionally 

high, which also affected the sales of down apparel. From 

November 2013 to January 2014, the average monthly 

temperature was two to three degrees higher than that of last 

year in the same regions in the country. Especially in central 

and western China, temperature for the first three months 

in 2014 increased significantly. The temperature of certain 

regions were even over ten degrees higher when compared 

to the same period of last year. Amid the harsh environment, 

the revenue of the Group’s down apparel business decreased 

by 14.6% as compared to the same period of last year to 

RMB6,056.7 million during the year, and accounted for 73.5% 

of the Group’s total revenue. Sales volume of branded down 

apparel decreased by 17.0% as compared to the same period 

of last year to 17.8 million units (including the non seasonal 

products of the branded down apparel).

Leveraging on brand popularity and high market penetration, 

Bosideng maintained its leading position in the industry. 

According to the PRC down apparel market report sales 

statistics in China in 2013 published by CIIIC, the combined 

market share of the four down apparel brands of the 

Group (namely Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo and Bengen) 

amounted to 37.8%, maintained a predominant position for 19 

consecutive years.

As of March 31, 2014, there was a net decrease in the total 

number of down apparel stores by 1,357 to 11,652, and sales 

area decreased by approximately 6.7%. The Group streamlined 

and adjusted its sales channels during the low season, and 

there was a net decrease of 2,083 third party distributor stores 

to 7,829 during the year. The number of self-operated stores 

increased by 726 to 3,823, accounting for 32.8% of the entire 

retail network.
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Retail network breakdown by down apparel brand

      

As at March 31, 2014

Bosideng Snow Flying Combo Bengen Others Total
Number

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number

of stores Sales area
Number

of stores Sales area
Number

of stores Sales area
Number

of stores Sales area
            

Specialty stores
Operated by the Group 389 70,603 175 17,609 28 2,663 19 1,154 2 194 613 92,223
Operated by third party distributors 2,435 289,759 718 55,825 470 34,380 692 42,678 363 20,574 4,678 443,216

            

Subtotal 2,824 360,362 893 73,434 498 37,043 711 43,832 365 20,768 5,291 535,439
            

Concessionary retail outlets#

Operated by the Group 1,235 94,601 932 58,996 837 18,414 203 6,085 3 128 3,210 178,224
Operated by third party distributors 712 84,726 533 41,441 989 72,344 709 43,727 208 11,789 3,151 254,027

            

Subtotal 1,947 179,327 1,465 100,437 1,826 90,758 912 49,812 211 11,917 6,361 432,251
            

Total 4,771 539,689 2,358 173,871 2,324 127,801 1,623 93,644 576 32,685 11,652 967,690

      

As at March 31, 2013

Bosideng Snow Flying Combo Bengen Others Total
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area

Specialty stores
Operated by the Group 62 14,396 238 28,133 22 2,516 – – – – 322 45,045
Operated by third party distributors 3,023 359,729 1,026 79,772 499 36,501 827 51,004 193 10,939 5,568 537,945

Subtotal 3,085 374,125 1,264 107,905 521 39,017 827 51,004 193 10,939 5,890 582,990

Concessionary retail outlets#

Operated by the Group 1,074 111,406 963 58,682 735 16,379 1 300 2 85 2,775 186,852
Operated by third party distributors 943 98,876 602 36,085 1,300 79,208 944 31,442 555 21,407 4,344 267,018

Subtotal 2,017 210,282 1,565 94,767 2,035 95,587 945 31,742 557 21,492 7,119 453,870

Total 5,102 584,407 2,829 202,672 2,556 134,604 1,772 82,746 750 32,431 13,009 1,036,860

The unit of sales area is square metre

#  The Group’s concessionary retail outlets are mainly counters in department stores, which are normally operated only during the 
peak season for down apparel because of the seasonality of its products.
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Retail network of down apparel business breakdown by region

   

As at 

March 31, 

2014

As at 

March 31, 

2013 Change

Eastern China 4,615 4,795 -180

Central China 2,411 2,378 33

Northern China 1,285 1,886 -601

Northeast China 1,274 1,576 -302

Northwest China 1,206 1,402 -196

Southwest China 861 972 -111
 

Total 11,652 13,009 -1,357
 

Areas:

Eastern China: Jiangsu, Anhui, Zhejiang, Shanghai, Fujian, Shandong

Central China: Hubei, Hunan, Henan, Jiangxi, Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan

Northern China: Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei

Northeast China: Liaoning, Jilin, Heilongjiang, Inner Mongolia,

Northwest China: Xinjiang, Gansu, Qinghai, Shaanxi, Ningxia, Shanxi

Southwest China: Sichuan, Tibet, Chongqing, Yunnan, Guizhou
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MAjOR PROGRESS OF DOWN APPAREL BUSINESS

During the year, the Group made progress in the following 

aspects: 1. Effective procurement management to control 

cost; 2. Prompt adjustment to production plan according 

to sales status; 3. Scanning of sales channels to rationalise 

network planning; 4. Accumulation of experience for retail 

transformation; 5. Information efficiency improvement and 

system upgrading; 6. Significant improvement in logistics 

efficiency through management enhancement.

1. Effective procurement management to control 
cost

During the year, the Group successfully controlled 

procurement price at a level favourable than the 

market average through resources integration, strategic 

partnership cooperation and low season procurement.

Procurement of down: Outbreak of the bird flu in 

April 2013, resulted in shortage of down and price 

speculation. The market price doubled as compared 

with April last year. In response to the bird flu, the 

following measures were taken: (1) the Group purchased 

some down during low season; (2) the Group provided 

financial support to suppliers by way of prepayment to 

ensure the supply; (3) the Group seized the right timing 

to make orders and cooperated with suppliers to jointly 

curb speculation by leveraging on the Group’s market 

influence; (4) the Group enjoyed an average price more 

than 20% below the market through cooperating with 

main down suppliers of long-standing relationship with 

the Group.

Other raw materials: for fabrics and accessories, the 

Group secured a more favourable price for newly 

invented fabrics through early intervention. As for fur, 

the price went up significantly during the year. The 

Group sent technical staff to provide onsite technical 

support on fur cutting and utilisation of scrap materials 

to maximise the utilisation of the materials in order to 

save cost. 
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2.  P r o m p t  a d j u s t m e n t  t o  p r o d u c t i o n  p l a n 
according to sales status

With exceptional weather change and weak retail 

sentiment during the year, the Group swiftly adjusted 

its production based on actual sales figures, fulfilled 

and adjusted orders in a timely manner. As we entered 

the peak sales season, the Group took the initiative 

and reduced production volume by approximately 15%, 

to reduce increment of new inventories and avoid 

inventory accumulation.

3.  Scanning of sales channels to rationalise 
network planning

During the low season, the Group rationalised its 

outlets and carried out a multi-dimensional analysis 

and management based on regions, city tiers, and 

business districts. The Group formulated an outlet 

expansion plan that is more suitable for brands and 

the future sales strategies by looking into the types of 

business circle the outlets are located and conducting 

geographical analyses on its brands and competing 

brands nearby. During the year, the stores allocation 

of down brands was further adjusted, making better 

preparation for retail transformation.

4.  Accumulation of experience for preparation of 
retail transformation

The Group i s  mak ing progress  w i th  i t s  re ta i l 

transformation. During the year, the Group fully 

enhanced various aspects such as shop image, product 

display, service quality and warehouse management 

so as to enhance its stores’ quality, service standard 

and operating efficiency. Retail squads conducted 

comprehensive training in sales skills, product logistics 

and shop management, the image and services of the 

first 60 benchmark stores were significantly improved 

with sales outperforming other stores. This result will 

bring more confidence and help build solid experience 

for future expansion.
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5.  Information efficiency improvement and system 
upgrading

Increasing penetration rate of ERP systems: During the 

year, the Group organised technical patrol to carry out 

supervision, training and guidance to retail terminals 

in order to raise the usage efficiency of the ERP 

system. During the year, the distributors were more 

familiar with the system through training. The usage of 

national sales portal ERP exceeded 75%, which in turn 

significantly enhanced the efficiency of data and goods 

management by the distributors. Meanwhile, the POS 

promotion team developed customised nationwide POS 

system in retail terminals that is suitable to the Group’s 

business needs. The system is more flexible and cost-

effective. The Group stepped up its effort in promoting 

the installation and usage of POS in order to obtain 

timely and accurate terminal sales data for analysis. As 

at March 31, 2014, the coverage of POS system of down 

apparel brands was over 80%.

Upgrade of the Group’s information system: The Group 

engaged Accenture during the year to restructure the 

Group’s information management system. Accenture 

comprehensively examined the supply chain, logistics, 

finance and management platform. The Group will use 

SAP as its core system to replace its self-developed 

ERP system in the future. The new information system 

is designed for accommodating business development 

needs for the coming three to five years and supporting 

the Group’s retail transformation, non-down apparel 

business and international business. By using SAP 

system, the Group is able to optimise business process, 

enhance risk control, integrate the management 

of finance and business, as well as increase the 

processing speed of financial data. During the year, 

the Group completed the procurement of SAP system 

and confirmed its collaboration with IBM to conduct 

consultation and implementation of the system, and has 

currently completed the design of business blueprint. It 

is expected that SAP system will be in operation at the 

end of 2014/2015 financial year.

6.  Significant improvement in logistics efficiency 
through management enhancement

During the year, the Group enhanced management of its 
logistics, creating a more effective platform for sharing 
and management of merchandise. For information 
management in logistics, real-time sharing among the 
three warehouse inventory databases (terminal POS, 
subsidiary warehouse ERP and head warehouse WMS) 
were established after system integration. Data quality 
for management analysis and decision can be improved 
from logistics dimension. The Group adopted a series of 
measures to optimise the process and enhance the data 
accuracy so as to increase operating efficiency and 
cut headcount after streamlining process and reducing 
cost. For example, 1) as the only enterprise in down 
apparel industry to introduce RF integrated scanner, 
the Group is able to optimise selection and collection 
orders in the logistics process with 100% accuracy 
and double the operating efficiency; 2) database on 
factories was established in ERP system to ensure 
accuracy of merchandise data, and operating efficiency 
in goods collection increased by 42.5%.

In consideration of medium-to-long-term development 
planning for its logistics, the Group confirmed the 
deployment of two-tier logistics of central distribution 
centre-regional distribution centre in the future, 
commenced exploration of regional distribution centre 
reform, and made use of economies of scale of regional 
network to enhance the delivery speed, which helped 
increase the prompt response of its retail stores to 
the market. During the year, the Group focused on the 
study of regional distribution centre sites in southern 
region of Jiangsu province and ensured future reform 
will be implemented in an orderly manner through 
market research and planning.

Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14 17
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OEM Management Business

During the year ,  the revenue from the Group’s OEM 
management business amounted to RMB880.5 mil l ion, 
representing a decrease of 7.8% as compared to the same 
period of last year and accounted for 10.7% of the Group’s 
total revenue. The decrease in revenue from this business 
segment was mainly attributable to the slow economic 
recovery in Europe and the United States as well as the global 
trend of relocating the processing factories to Southeast Asian 
countries.

During the year, the OEM management business has 11 clients, 
which are mainly renowned brands in the United States. 
Revenue of the OEM management business from the top five 
clients accounted for approximately 71.2% of the total.

During the year, the Group commenced overseas sales of 
products under its own brands and the progress was well 
underway. The Group began introducing its products to sales 
channels in Germany and nearby countries by collaborating 
with a renowned European online retailer for apparel, 
accessories and household goods. On such basis, the Group 
introduced another Italian regional distributor in the second 
half of the year to prepare itself for channeling its products to 
down multi-brand shops in Italy in 2014/2015 financial year. 
During the year, orders from distributors in Germany and 
Italy exceeded 12,000 units, with presence in approximately 
480 stores. Achieving such result in the first year of business 
proved that our products have gained recognition from the 
market. In its future business development, the Group will 
focus on markets in covered areas, increase the sales volume 
from individual shops, and open up other potential markets in 
Europe.

Non-down Apparel Business

During the year, the revenue from non-down apparel business 
increased amounted to RMB1,300.7 million, representing an 
increase of approximately 1.9% as compared to the same 
period of last year and accounted for 15.8% of the Group’s total 
revenue. Of total revenue, the revenue from Bosideng MAN 
amounted to RMB478.2 million, representing a decrease of 
1.2% as compared to the same period of last year; the revenue 
from JESSIE amounted to RMB348.4 million, representing an 
increase of 4.9% as compared to the same period of last year; 
and the revenue from Mogao amounted to RMB446.8 million, 
representing an increase of 4.9% as compared to the same 
period of last year.

As of March 31, 2014, there was a net decrease of 263 in 
the total number of non-down business stores to 1,163, 
and the sales area decreased by approximately 19.4%. In 
particular, there was a net decrease of 163 in the number of 
Bosideng MAN stores to 592, and the sales area decreased by 
approximately 18.8%; there was a net decrease of 28 in the 
number of JESSIE stores to 226, and the sales area decreased 
by approximately 8.0%; there was a net decrease of 77 in the 
number of Mogao stores to 318, and the sales area decreased 
by approximately 24.3%.
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Retail network breakdown by non-down apparel brand

     

As at March 31, 2014 Bosideng MAN jESSIE Mogao RICCI Total
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area

Specialty stores
Operated by the Group 32 5,025 3 322 – – 1 120 36 5,467
Operated by third party distributors 288 30,818 43 4,541 109 9,731 – – 440 45,090

Subtotal 320 35,843 46 4,863 109 9,731 1 120 476 50,557

Concessionary retail outlets
Operated by the Group 76 4,965 106 8,530 209 25,447 23 143 414 39,085
Operated by third party distributors 196 13,834 74 6,464 – – 3 212 273 20,510

Subtotal 272 18,799 180 14,994 209 25,447 26 355 687 59,595

Total 592 54,642 226 19,857 318 35,178 27 475 1,163 110,152

     

As at March 31, 2013 Bosideng MAN JESSIE Mogao RICCI Total
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area
Number 

of stores Sales area

Specialty stores           
Operated by the Group 24 3,977 3 322 – – 22 1,331 49 5,630
Operated by third party distributors 371 38,725 53 5,492 186 16,517 – – 610 60,734

Subtotal 395 42,702 56 5,814 186 16,517 22 1,331 659 66,364

Concessionary retail outlets
Operated by the Group 99 6,193 120 9,445 209 29,959 – – 428 45,597
Operated by third party distributors 261 18,404 78 6,330 – – – – 339 24,734

Subtotal 360 24,597 198 15,775 209 29,959 – – 767 70,331

Total 755 67,299 254 21,589 395 46,476 22 1,331 1,426 136,695

The unit of sales area is square metre
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Retail network of non-down apparel business breakdown by region

   

As at 

March 31, 

2014

As at 

March 31, 

2013 Change

Eastern China area 297 384 -87

Central China area 322 364 -42

Northern China area 64 82 -18

Northeast China area 130 177 -47

Northwest China area 168 177 -9

Southwest China area 182 242 -60
 

Total 1,163 1,426 -263
 

Areas:

Eastern China area: Jiangsu, Anhui, Zhejiang, Shanghai, Fujian, Shandong

Central China area: Hubei, Hunan, Henan, Jiangxi, Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan

Northern China area: Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei

Northeast China area: Liaoning, Jilin, Heilongjiang, Inner Mongolia,

Northwest China area: Xinjiang, Gansu, Qinghai, Shaanxi, Ningxia, Shanxi

Southwest China area: Sichuan, Tibet, Chongqing, Yunnan, Guizhou
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Bosideng MAN

During the year, the Group made adjustments for Bosideng 

MAN mainly in the following major aspects: (1) Product 

positioning: trendy and functional business menswear for 30-

40 years old elites in second and third tier cities; (2) Product 

planning: after a clearer product positioning, product types 

can be streamlined with a narrower price range and 50% less 

stock keeping unit (SKU). The Group provided some high value 

for money products to enrich the brand value and attract 

customers; (3) Sale channels: after a scrutinised analysis, the 

Group’s net decrease of stores with poor performance was 

163; Newly opened stores are mainly located near street stores 

and shopping malls to draw closer to the target customers; 

(4) Improved shop image: The emphasis on the integration of 

product display and product research and development creates 

a more cohesive product series with an enhanced design; (5) 

Improved retail store services: providing salespersons at retail 

stores with systematic training and evaluation in order to raise 

sales. The streamlining of menswear business will continue, 

which will lay a solid foundation for the medium- to long-term 

development in the future.

JESSIE

JESSIE is a major ladies’ wear brand of the non-down apparel 

business of the Group. The Group entered into an equity 

transfer agreement with Talent Shine International Limited 

on October 28, 2011, pursuant to which, the Group acquired 

70% equity interest in each of Talent Shine Limited and Sunny 

Bright Global Investments Limited at an initial consideration 

of RMB892.5 million (subject to adjustments provided for in 

the agreement), consisting of cash consideration of RMB297.5 

million and share consideration by way of issuance of 235 

million shares of the Company.

Under  the equ i ty  t rans fer  agreement ,  Ta lent  Sh ine 

International Limited has guaranteed the net profits (after 

tax) of Talent Shine Limited, Sunny Bright Global Investments 

Limited and their subsidiaries of not less than RMB85.0 million, 

RMB108.8 million, RMB136.0 million and RMB165.9 million for 

each of the four financial years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, 

2014 and 2015, respectively.

During the year, JESSIE recorded sales revenue and net profit 

of approximately RMB347.6 million and RMB76.8 million, 

respectively. The net profit attributable to JESSIE for the 

financial year ended March 31, 2014 was below the profit 

guarantee under the equity transfer agreement. As security 

for the profit guarantee, Talent Shine International Limited 

has made available to Talent Shine Limited an interest-

free shareholder’s loan in the amount of RMB150.0 million, 

which was recorded as contingent consideration payable in 

the consolidated balance sheet and would only be refunded 

to Talent Shine International Limited upon fulfillment of the 

profit guarantee. As the profit guarantee was neither fulfilled 

in the financial year ended March 31, 2014, nor expected to be 

fulfilled in the next financial year, all the shareholder’s loan 

is highly likely to be assigned to the Group to make up the 

shortfall, which has resulted in a decrease in the fair value of 

contingent consideration payable.

The JESSIE brand made adjustments in operation in response 

to the unfavorable development in the northern market last 

year. The Group separated the functions of store expansion 

and store management as a remedial measure. It retained 

managers who have the ability to develop the retail expansion 

in northern China, and it appointed more experienced 

administrators to enhance the management of stores in order 

to improve their efficiency. During the year, JESSIE had a net 

closure of 28 stores with poor performance after streamlining 

sale channels. The Group strengthened management of 

remaining retail stores and increased their operating efficiency 

so that revenue did not suffer from store closures and even 

registered a slight increase.

Mogao

During the year, the Group reviewed Mogao’s business model, 

and made adjustments to retail channels to optimise the 

portfolio and distribution of the retail network. During the year, 

there was a net decrease of 77 stores with poor performance. 

In addition, during the year, the Group was committed to 

enhancing Mogao’s outlet standard, improving service quality 

and outlet operating efficiency. The revenue of Mogao was not 

affected by the store closures, but increased slightly by 4.9% 

instead.
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International development

Entering the second year of operation, the management of 
Bosideng London flagship store has accumulated considerable 
operation experience and formed their own views on store 
development in aspects such as product design, production and 
retail operation. They have also gained a better understanding 
of the preferences and needs of local customers.

In order to bolster the Bosideng brand in overseas markets, 
Bosideng London flagship store continued to serve brand 
building and promotion as its top priority. Bosideng London 
formed a sponsorship with Tottenham Hotspur, an English 
Premier League Football Club, and such partnership provided 
Bosideng London with a publicity platform. In addition, 
Bosideng London’s brand appeared in Tottenham Hotspur’s 
official website and social media channels, enabling the brand 
to have direct interaction with fans around the world.

The Bosideng London series was displayed in the New York 
Fashion Week in February 2014, marking the Group’s first 
step into the US market to introduce its brand to customers 
and fashion industry in the United States. This was also a 
test of the charm of the “Chinese brand” in the international 
fashion sector. The overall style of the works represented 
a combination of British menswear tradition and Chinese 
contemporary elements. The design was a continuous mixture 
of culture, art and fashion shown in a simple and innovative 
way. The show attracted a lot of attention from the fashion 
industry, including experts and fashion bloggers from the new 
social media. The Group attracted extensive interviews and 
media coverage during the New York Fashion Week.

CORPORATE TRAINING

Bosideng Business College was established in the year with 
an aim to building an internal training system to satisfy the 
Group’s own development requirements and provide tailor-
made training courses. In order to achieve this, the Group put 
much effort to develop leadership training courses. During 
the year, the Business College nurtured 121 in-house trainers, 
including 35 Development Dimensions International-certified 
trainers and 86 trainers certified by Bosideng Business College 
through the leadership programme. These employees have 
been with the company for years and can accurately identify 
the problems and needs of the team. Accordingly, they can 
develop related courses and provide training. As a result, 
a standardised management practice can be developed to 
enhance management efficiency.
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The Business College aims to enhance the quality and 

business skills of staff and foster their career development 

through training courses. The staff will be able to learn from 

successful business experience, adopt advanced operation 

and management models, get inspired by innovations while 

observing the Group’s corporate tradition and culture. The 

Business College offers courses on two areas, namely staff 

quality training and professional training. During the year, 

the Business College established an online learning platform 

to satisfy the demand for distance e-learning and provide 

technical training to regional and store business staff. A 

total of 114 courses were held by the internal and external 

lecturers, covering areas such as product display, engineering, 

merchandise and marketing. Training sessions accumulated 

to approximately 60,000 hours with more than 7,800 

participants.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

During the year, the Group participated in various donation 

activities through its Dekang Love Foundation and good 

value equivalent of RMB15 million (in terms of retail value) 

was donated. The Group donated to areas for disaster relief 

promptly upon the outbreak of a 7.0 Richter scale earthquake 

in Ya’an, Sichuan Province in April 2013.

In December 2013, the Group donated 1,000 down apparels 

to Dekang Love Foundation for the caring-for-elderly activity 

in Ganzhou. Dekang Love Foundation cooperated with 

Ganzhou Civil Affairs Bureau to deliver the down apparels 

to the geracomium in nine counties in Ganzhou. Ganzhou, 

the historical capital of the Communist Revolution, is the 

foundation’s first station of donation in the nation after the 

“Dekang Fraternity Giving Warm to China” donation activity 

series was launched in Ji’an, Jiangxi Province. Following the 

launch of donation activity in Ganzhou, Jiangxi Province, the 

foundation will begin a series of donation activities in the 

next phase to help the poor and underprivileged in Sichuan 

Province, Hebei Province, Jiangsu Province and other places.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year ended March 31, 2014 decreased by 11.7% year-on-year to approximately RMB8,237.9 million. 
Revenue of the Group’s branded down apparel business decreased by 14.6% to approximately RMB6,056.7 million, mainly due to 
unstable macroeconomic environment and reduced domestic demand, together with the exceptionally high temperature in autumn 
and winter last year. Sales revenue of down apparels decreased as a result. The revenue of OEM management business decreased 
by 7.8% to RMB880.5 million, mainly due to the slow economic recovery in Europe and the United States as well as the trend of 
relocating the processing factories in the world to Southeast Asian countries. Sales of the non-down apparel business slightly 
increased by 1.9% to approximately RMB1,300.7 million as compared to the previous year which evidenced the initial result of 
the adjustments implemented by the Group such as clearance of inventories, adjustment of product positioning and the rational 
planning of retail channels.

During the year, the branded down apparel business remained the largest contributor of revenue, which accounted for 73.5% of 
the Group’s revenue, with the remaining 15.8% and 10.7% coming from the non-down apparel business and the OEM management 
business, as compared to 76.1%, 13.7% and 10.2%, respectively in the previous year.

Sales analysis by business

  

Year ended March 31,
2014 2013

(RMB 
million)

% of total 
revenue

(RMB 
million)

% of total 
revenue

Changes 
(%)

Branded down apparel
• Self-owned 2,167.4 26.3% 1,620.5 17.4% 33.7%
• Wholesale 3,798.7 46.1% 5,434.6 58.3% -30.1%
• Others* 90.6 1.1% 38.6 0.4% 134.7%

  

Total down apparel revenue 6,056.7 73.5% 7,093.7 76.1% -14.6%
  

Non-down apparel
• Self-owned 718.5 8.7% 381.9 4.1% 88.1%
• Wholesale 578.9 7.0% 890.9 9.5% -35.0%
• Others# 3.3 0.1% 3.1 0.1% 6.5%

  

Total non-down apparel revenue 1,300.7 15.8% 1,275.9 13.7% 1.9%
OEM management 880.5 10.7% 954.9 10.2% -7.8%

  

Total revenue 8,237.9 100.0% 9,324.5 100.0% -11.7%
  

* Represents sales primarily of raw materials related to down apparel products and other licensing fees, etc.
# Represents revenue from rental income

A majority of the Group’s products were branded down apparel sold wholesale, which accounted for 62.7% of the Group’s branded 
down apparel revenue, compared to 76.6% in the previous year.



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/1428

Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue analysis of down apparel sales by brand

  

Year ended March 31,

2014 2013

Brands

(RMB 

million)

% of 

branded 

down 

apparel 

sales

(RMB 

million)

% of 

branded 

down 

apparel 

sales

Changes 

(%)
  

Bosideng 4,047.8 66.9% 4,753.8 67.0% -14.9%

Snow Flying 1,025.1 16.9% 1,208.3 17.0% -15.2%

Bengen 347.3 5.7% 424.5 6.0% -18.2%

Combo 453.7 7.5% 532.5 7.5% -14.8%

Other brands 92.2 1.5% 136.0 1.9% -32.2%

Others 90.6 1.5% 38.6 0.6% 134.7%
  

Total down apparel revenue 6,056.7 100.0% 7,093.7 100.0% -14.6%

  

Year ended March 31,

2014 2013

Brands

(RMB 

million)

% of 

branded 

non-down 

apparel 

sales

(RMB 

million)

% of 

branded 

non-down 

apparel 

sales

Changes 

(%)
  

Bosideng MAN 478.2 36.8% 483.9 37.9% -1.2%

JESSIE 348.4 26.8% 332.1 26.0% 4.9%

Mogao 446.8 34.3% 426.0 33.4% 4.9%

Others 27.3 2.1% 33.9 2.7% -19.5%
  

Total non-down apparel revenue 1,300.7 100.0% 1,275.9 100.0% 1.9%
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For down apparel business, sales revenue of the Bosideng 

branded apparel remained the largest contributor and 

contributed approximately RMB4,047.8 million or 66.9% of 

the total branded down apparel sales. Snow Flying contributed 

sales revenue of approximately RMB1,025.1 million or 16.9% 

of the total branded down apparel sales. Combo and Bengen 

recorded sales revenues of approximately RMB453.7 million 

and RMB347.3 million, which represented 7.5% and 5.7% of the 

total branded down apparel sales, respectively.

In respect of non-down apparel business, Bosideng MAN is the 

largest contributor to the revenue of the non-down apparel 

business, which contributed approximately RMB478.2 million or 

36.8% the total non-down apparel revenue. JESSIE and Mogao 

recorded revenues of approximately RMB348.4 million and 

RMB446.8 million, which represented 26.8% and 34.3% of the 

total non-down apparel revenue, respectively.

Gross profit

During the year, the Group took advantage of its own 

economies of scale and strictly implemented cost control 

measures to ease the impact caused by the increase in labour 

cost and the cost of raw materials such as down. Gross profit 

dropped by 12.8% from RMB4,720.5 million to RMB4,115.5 

million, whereas gross profit margin decreased by 0.6 

percentage point to 50.0%.

The gross profit margin of the branded down apparel business, 

non-down apparel business and the OEM management business 

for the year was 54.4%, 49.0% and 21.0% respectively, as 

compared to 55.5%, 45.7% and 20.9%, respectively for last 

year.

Distribution expenses

The Group’s distr ibution expenses, mainly comprising 

advertising and promotion expenses, concessionaire fees 

to shopping malls and salary and welfare, amounted to 

approximately RMB2,813.6 million, representing a slight 

increase of 1.1%, as compared to approximately RMB2,782.4 

million in the previous year. Distribution expenses constituted 

34.2% of the total revenue, signifying a rise of 4.4 percentage 

points as compared to 29.8% for the same period of last year.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group, which mainly 

comprise salary and welfare, depreciation and office expenses, 

amounted to approximately RMB459.5 million, representing 

a slight increase of 0.1% from approximately RMB459.1 

million in the previous year. During the year under review, 

administrative expenses accounted for 5.6% of the Group’s 

revenue, representing an increase of 0.7 percentage point as 

compared to 4.9% for the same period of last year.

Impairment losses on goodwill

The Group performs annual impairment testing for goodwill 

arising from the acquisitions of the Menswear business (the 

details of which was set out in the 2012/2013 annual report 

(pages 33-34)) and the acquisition of the Ladieswear business 

(the details of which was set out in the 2012/2013 annual 

report (pages 34-35)) subsequent to the initial recognition.

The recoverable amounts of Menswear cash generating unit 

(“CGU”) and Ladieswear CGU were estimated based on the 

value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows 

to be generated from the continuing use of the CGUs.

In preparing the value in use calculation, the management 

used the same valuation methodology and information as those 

used in previous years, taking into account any changes in the 

inputs used in the valuation models due to the change of the 

business environment at the reporting period end, to calculate 

the recoverable amount of the Menswear CGU and Ladieswear 

CGU as at March 31, 2014. As such, no independent valuer was 

engaged for the valuation of the recoverable amounts of the 

Menswear CGU and Ladieswear CGU as at March 31, 2014, and 

no valuation report was prepared by the independent valuer in 

this regard for the year under review.

During the year under review, the Group continued to 

recognise impairment losses of approximately RMB55 million 

on goodwill arising from the Group’s acquisition of the 

Ladieswear business because the carrying amount of the 

ladieswear CGU was higher than the value in use.



The discount rate used in the value in use calculation for 

ladieswear CGU is 24% (2013: 23%), representing the CGU’s 

specific weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for a risk 

premium to reflect the systematic risk of the CGU. Management 

applied a higher discount rate as compared to 2013 to 

factor into the increased uncertainties of projected business 

performance of the Ladieswear business resulted from the 

latest market condition.

Operating profit

During the year under review, the Group’s operating profit 

decreased by 31.9% to approximately RMB865.5 million. 

Operating profit margin was 10.5%, representing a decrease 

of 3.1 percentage points as compared to 13.6% for the same 

period of last year.

Finance income

During the year under review, the Group’s finance income 

decreased by approximately 39.7% to approximately RMB184.2 

million from approximately RMB305.5 million in the previous 

year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of the 

fair value of contingent consideration payable in respect of 

JESSIE ladies’ wear of approximately RMB133.2 million for the 

corresponding period of last year.

Finance expenses and taxation

The Group’s finance expenses for the year under review 

decreased by 29.4% to approximately RMB84.9 million. The 

expenses was mainly the interest of bank loan of the Group.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, income tax expenses 

decreased f rom approx imate ly  RMB404.3 mi l l ion to 

approximately RMB280.0 million. The effective tax rate was 

approximately 28.5%, higher than the standard PRC income tax 

rate of 25%, which was mainly attributable to the combined 

effect of non-deductible expenses, tax losses not recognised 

as deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries of the Group and 

preferential tax rate enjoyed by the subsidiary.

Final dividends

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend 

of HKD2.0 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB1.6 cents) 

per ordinary share for the year ended March 31, 2014. The 

proposed dividend payment is subject to approval by the 

shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting 

to be held on or around August 28, 2014. Upon shareholders’ 

approval, the proposed final dividends will be paid on or 

around September 12, 2014 to shareholders whose names 

appear on the register of members of the Company on 

September 5, 2014.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group adopted prudent funding and treasury management 

policies while maintaining an overall healthy financial position. 

The Group’s source of funding was raised by bank borrowings.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the Group’s net cash used 

in operating activities amounted to approximately RMB150.6 

million and the net cash generated from operating activities 

amounted to approximately RMB632.5 million for the year 

ended March 31, 2013. Cash and cash equivalents as at March 

31, 2014 were in the amount of approximately RMB2,118.0 

million, as compared to approximately RMB1,935.4 million as 

at March 31, 2013.

In order to maximise returns on the Group’s available cash 

reserves, the Group had available-for-sale financial assets, 

which comprised principal guaranteed short-term investments 

with banks in the PRC. Available-for-sale financial assets have 

expected but not guaranteed returns ranging from 3.8% to 

6.21% per annum.

As at March 31, 2014, the Group had bank borrowings 

amounting to approximately RMB3,259.2 mill ion (2013: 

RMB2,656.1 million). The gearing ratio (total debt/total equity) 

of the Group was 44.2% (March 31, 2013: 36.5%).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Contingent liabilities

As at March 31, 2014, the Group had no material contingent 

liabilities.

Capital commitments

As at March 31, 2014, the Group had outstanding capital 

commitments in respect of plant, property and equipment 

amounting to approximately RMB110.0 million (March 31, 2013: 

RMB105.8 million).

Operating lease commitment

As at March 31, 2014, the Group had irrevocable operating 

lease commitment which amounted to approximately 

RMB299.4 million (March 31, 2013: approximately RMB340.4 

million).

Pledge of assets

As a t  March 31 ,  2014 ,  bank depos i t s  amount ing to 

approximately RMB468.9 million had been pledged to secure 

the Group’s bank loans and banking facilities in relation to bills 

payable and letters of credit (March 31, 2013: approximately 

RMB1,412.8 million).

Financial management and treasury policy

The f inanc ia l  r i sk  management o f  the Group i s  the 

responsibility of the Group’s treasury department at our head 

office. One of the major objectives of the Group’s treasury 

policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest 

rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

Foreign currency exposure

The business operations of the Group were conducted mainly 

in the PRC with its revenues and expenses denominated in 

RMB. Some of the Group’s cash and bank deposits, including 

proceeds from the Group’s initial public offering, were 

denominated in Hong Kong Dollars or US Dollars. The Company 

and some of its overseas subsidiaries selected US Dollars 

as their functional currency. Any significant exchange rate 

fluctuations of Hong Kong Dollars or US Dollars against each 

entity’s respective functional currency may have impacts on 

the Group’s financial position.

As at March 31, 2014, the Directors considered the Group’s 

foreign exchange risk to be insignificant. During the year under 

review, the Group did not use any financial instruments for 

hedging purpose.

Human resources

As at March 31, 2014, the Group had approximately 5,940 full-

time employees (March 31, 2013: 5,327 full-time employees). 

Staff costs for the year ended March 31, 2014 (including 

Directors’ remuneration in the form of salaries and other 

allowances) were approximately RMB925.5 million (2013: 

approximately RMB767.3 million). The increase in staff 

costs was mainly due to the implementation of the Group’s 

independent development policy for its down apparel 

brands, the expansion of self-operated stores for down 

apparel products and the increase in the number of relevant 

employees. The Group’s remuneration and bonus policy is 

primarily based on the duties, performance and length of 

service of each individual employee with reference to the 

prevailing market conditions.

To attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and 

motivate them to strive for the future development and 

expansion of its business, the Group has also adopted a share 

award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”).

As at March 31, 2014, no share had been awarded by the Group 

under the Share Award Scheme.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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OUTLOOK

In short term, China’s economy is expected to grow in 

moderate speed and quality enhancement will be the direction 

of development. Consumer market sentiment is expected to be 

weak, as it faces pressure of high inventory and over expansion 

in earlier stage. In view of such environment, the Group will 

streamline its organisation, refine professional management 

and in turn improve operational efficiency and competencies of 

the Company, thus maintaining its leading position in apparel 

industry. Priorities will be given to the following aspects:

Down Apparel Business

The Group reviewed in detail the results of its brand separation 

strategy, which led to smooth operation of each brand and 

brand value achievement throughout the value chain. However, 

the Group also realised its failure to integrate business in 

earlier stage that resulted in a significant increase in staff 

cost. Learning from the past, the Group will focus on achieving 

synergy among various brands to save human resources in the 

coming year.

Brand Reshaping: The Group will continue to optimise the 

embedded value of each of its brands by reshaping and 

enhancing the fashion sense of its products and technological 

innovation, so as to rejuvenate its brands and maintain its 

leading market position. Taking into account the current strong 

brand recognition of Bosideng and Snow Flying, the Group will 

focus on physical stores of the two brands in the coming year. 

Meanwhile Combo and Bengen will mainly focus on specific 

regions and online sales channels.

Retail Transformation: With regard to the layout of its sale 

network, the Group will streamline and optimise the whole 

retail network, enhance its information and data management 

and analysis, and adjust and optimise channel composition 

based on the data in order to rationalise the layout of the 

network. Meanwhile, the Group needs to gain more experience 

on retail management, so as to increase the profitability of 

stores and accelerate its retail business transformation process 

through the micro management of direct sales stores. The 

overall operational pattern has been gearing towards retailing. 

In the coming year, brand strategy, advertisement and 

merchandise planning will all be developed in the direction of 

retail transformation.

Fast Supply Chain to Reduce Inventory Level: Strengthening 

the control over inventory level is also one of the key missions 

of the Group in the year to come. The Group will continue 

to optimise the existing spot trading system and stringently 

control the proportion of initial order at 30%. At the same 

time, the frequency of replenishment orders during the peak 

seasons will be increased to once a week, so that it can be 

flexible and quickly respond to sales performance at the stores. 

Meanwhile, the Group will educate distributors to achieve a 

more reasonable order arrangement. The Group will conduct 

scientific analysis on retail and distribution channel data in 

the area of procurement, production and allocation of goods. 

This will enable the Group to increase its responsiveness 

to the market in a more flexible and swift manner, and the 

operation efficiency of the supply chain will be enhanced with 

unnecessary inventories reduced. In terms of old inventories, it 

is intended that the off-season discount will be reformulated in 

autumn, along with the development of sale channels, to step 

up the effort in the clearance of inventories.
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Exploring Online to Offline: E-commerce has already 

become a consumption trend. With a view to better planning 

for e-commerce development, the Group will establish a 

shared CRM and VIP management system to collect data 

and share the resources within the Group. It will also make 

active investment in mobile devices to expand its online sale 

channels. It will formulate planning for online brand operation 

via data analysis, so as to explore interaction between online 

and offline channels and enhance the shopping experience of 

the consumers, thereby attracting more young consumers and 

expanding the consumer base of the Group.

Non-Down Apparel Business

The Group will review the profitability of individual brands 

and plan to terminate brands with poor profitability, including 

BOSIDENG RICCI ladies’ wear and Slim (a small down apparel 

brand), so that the Group’s resources will be utilised in the 

most effective way. Looking ahead, the non-down apparel 

business will focus on two segments, namely ladies wear, 

business and casual menswear.

Management System

With the continuous growth of its business, the Group will put 

emphasis on delicacy management with less hierarchy and will 

streamline unnecessary positions and procedures to optimise 

manpower efficiency. Meanwhile, the Group will re-design a 

strategy-oriented performance appraisal system and establish 

clearer quantitative and qualitative appraisal objectives so 

that appraisal will be closely-linked to the operating efficiency, 

which will nurture a proactive and cooperative corporate 

culture. At the same time, the Group will enhance its operation 

capability and optimise the Group’s management system 

through higher level of professional division of labour and 

emphasis on collaboration among different departments, 

thereby laying a solid foundation for business development 

in the long term through establishing a comprehensive 

management system.

Medium to Long Term Development Plan

The Group will gradually expand its core brand portfolio 

and market leadership, widen product range, develop multi 

channels to implement a multi-genre and comprehensive 

product line, as well as to increase the proportion of OBM/

ODM to reduce OEM business. In terms of internationalisation, 

the Group will explore various channels, and continue to 

enhance the Group’s capability of international operation and 

capital operation. In the future, the Group will further develop 

multi-brand, non-seasonal and internationalisation strategy, 

to become a respectable, world-renowned integrated apparel 

brand operator.
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THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is dedicated to maintaining and ensuring high standards of corporate governance practices. The corporate 

governance principles of the Company emphasize accountability and transparency and are adopted in the best interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company reviews its corporate 

governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to 

excellence in corporate governance.

The Group has complied with the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as contained in 

Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”) for the year ended March 31, 2014 except for Code provision A.2.1, the details of which are disclosed below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible leadership for the Company. The Board takes responsibility 

to oversee all major matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval of the Group’s overall objectives and 

strategies, internal control and risk management systems, monitoring its operating and financial performance, and evaluating the 

performance of the senior management. The Directors, individually and collectively, have to make decisions objectively in the best 

interests of the Company and its shareholders.

As at July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this report), the Board consisted of ten Directors, of 

whom six are executive Directors and four are independent non-executive Directors. The executive Directors are responsible for 

implementing business strategies and managing the business of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, 

including but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) have been 

consulted on all major and material matters of the Group. The Company maintains appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities 

insurance.

The role of the Board includes convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting their work to shareholders in shareholders’ 

meetings, implementing the resolutions of the shareholders’ meetings, determining the Group’s business plans and investment 

plans, preparing the Group’s annual budget and final accounts, putting forward proposals for dividend and bonus distributions 

and for the increase or reduction of registered or issued share capital, formulating proposals for share repurchase in accordance 

with any repurchase mandate granted by the shareholders’ meeting as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as 

conferred by the articles of association of the Company. The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance 

duties set out in Code provision D.3.1. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board meets regularly and acts in good faith, with due 

diligence and care.
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During the financial year ended March 31, 2014, the Board convened a total of seven Board meetings based on the needs of the 

operation and business development of the Group. The composition of the Board and their respective attendance at the Board 

meetings and Board committee meetings convened during the financial year ended March 31, 2014, as well as at the annual 

general meeting held on August 28, 2013, are as follows:

No. of meetings attended/held

Board

Meetings

Audit

Committee

Meetings

Remuneration

Committee

Meeting

Nomination

Committee

Meetings

Annual

General

Meeting on

August 28,

2013

Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Dekang (Chairman of the Board) 7/7 N/A 1/1 2/2 1/1

Ms. Mei Dong 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Dr. Kong Shengyuan (Resigned with effect from May 15, 2014) 6/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Ms. Gao Miaoqin 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Ms. Huang Qiaolian 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Ms. Wang Yunlei (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) 2/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Mr. Mak Yun Kuen (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013) 5/7* N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Rui Jinsong (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013) 5/7* N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shen Jingwu (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) 2/7 N/A 0/1 N/A 0/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Binggen 7/7 2/2 1/1 2/2 0/1

Mr. Jiang Hengjie (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) 2/7 0/2 0/1 1/2 0/1

Mr. Wang Yao 7/7 2/2 1/1 2/2 0/1

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung 7/7 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Lian Jie (Appointed with effect from July 10, 2013) 3/7* 1/2 N/A N/A 1/1

* Meetings have been fully attended since his appointment.
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Throughout the financial year ended March 31, 2014, the Board had met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing 

Rules of having at least four independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) with one of them 

(namely, Dr. Ngai Wai Fung) possessing the appropriate accounting professional qualifications. Save for a short period from May 

1, 2013 (when Mr. Jiang Hengjie resigned) to July 10, 2013, during which the number of independent non-executive Directors 

falling below one-third of the Board. With effect from July 10, 2013, Mr. Lian Jie was appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director enabling the Company to re-comply with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. On May 14, 2014, Mr. Kong Shengyuan resigned 

as executive Director, with effect from May 15, 2014. As a result of such change, the Board comprised ten members including six 

executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company. Each of the independent 

non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of 

the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The appointment of each of the Directors may be terminated by either the Company or the Director by giving a 3-month written 

notice and the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in 

accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Minutes of the Board meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection by the Directors and auditor of 

the Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment, so as to ensure their understanding of the 

business and operations of the Group and Directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant 

regulatory requirements.

All Directors are continually updated on developments in the relevant statutory and regulatory regimes, and the newest business 

and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant 

statutory requirements. Briefings and professional development for Directors will be arranged when necessary.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Code, all Directors should provide their training records to the Company. According to the 

training records provided by the Directors, the trainings attended by them during the reporting period is summarized as follows:

Directors

Corporate Governance,

Regulatory Development

and Trainings on other

relevant topics

Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Dekang √

Ms. Mei Dong √

Dr. Kong Shengyuan (Resigned with effect from May 15, 2014) √

Ms. Gao Miaoqin √

Ms. Huang Qiaolian √

Ms. Wang Yunlei (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) √

Mr. Mak Yun Kuen (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013) √

Mr. Rui Jinsong (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013) √

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shen Jingwu (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) √

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Dong Binggen √

Mr. Jiang Hengjie (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013) √

Mr. Wang Yao √

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung √

Mr. Lian Jie (Appointed with effect from July 10, 2013) √

THE ROLES OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer (“CEO”) should be separate and should 

not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Gao Dekang is the founder of the Group and the Chairman of the Board. Mr Gao 

Dekang had also been the CEO of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2014 and up till May 15, 2014. The Board believed 

that it was necessary to vest the roles of the Chairman of the Board and CEO in the same person due to his unique role, Mr. Gao 

Dekang’s experience and well-established reputation in China’s down apparel industry, and the importance of Mr. Gao Dekang 

in the strategic development of the Company. This dual role provided strong and consistent market leadership and is critical for 

efficient business planning and decision-making of the Company. As all major decisions are made in consultation with members of 

the Board and relevant Board committees, and there are independent non-executive Directors on the Board offering independent 

perspectives, the Board is therefore of the view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance of powers 

within the Board.

However, with effect from May 15, 2014, Mr. Gao Dekang ceased to act as the CEO of the Company and Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei took 

up the role as the CEO of the Company. Such arrangement is principally attributable to the increasing scale of the Company, which 

triggers the need of the Company to attract more professional talents and have a precise division of labour and management, 

so as to lay a more solid foundation for its long term business development. At the same time, such arrangement enables the 

Company to re-comply with the requirements of Code provision A.2.1 and to effectively raise the level of corporate governance.
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The Board will continue to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out 

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Directors are reminded of 

their obligations under the Model Code on a regular basis. Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors have confirmed 

that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended March 31, 2014 and up to 

the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established by the Company on September 15, 2007, whose primary duties are to review and supervise 

the financial reporting process and internal control procedures of the Group, nominate and monitor the external auditor, and 

perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. Please refer to the terms of reference published on the 

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange for the principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee. The audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee 

and audited by KPMG, the Company’s external auditor. As at July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of 

this report), the Audit Committee comprised four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ngai Wai Fung (Chairman), Mr. 

Dong Binggen, Mr. Wang Yao and Mr. Lian Jie.

Major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year is summarized as follows:

• review of and recommendation for the Board’s approval of the 2012/2013 annual report, interim financial information 

and annual financial statements with a focus on compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other 

requirements in relation to financial reporting;

• review of the accounting policies adopted by the Group and matters related to common accounting practices;

• review of the nature and scope of audit;

• discussion with the external auditor and the management on possible accounting risks;

• assisting the Board with the evaluation of the efficiency of the financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

• approval of the audit fees and terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

• review of the external auditor’s qualifications, independence and performance, and making recommendation for the 

Board’s re-appointment of the external auditor.

During the meetings held in the year ended March 31, 2014, the Audit Committee has considered the interim and annual results of 

the Group as well as the report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting matters and other major findings identified 

during the course of interim review and annual audit.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Company on September 

15, 2007, whose primary duties are to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and the senior 

management based on the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Please refer to 

the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for the 

principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee.

As at July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this report), the Remuneration Committee consisted of 

three members, comprising one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yao (Chairman), 

Mr. Gao Dekang and Mr. Dong Binggen.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting and reviewed the Group’s policy on remuneration 

of all the Directors and senior management. During the year, the Remuneration Committee had determined the remuneration 

packages of all executive Directors and senior management and made recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of the 

non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) was established by the Company on September 15, 2007, 

whose primary functions are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to 

become Board members with reference to the candidates’ experience and qualifications and the Company’s corporate strategy 

and diversity policy, assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations to the Board 

regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. Please refer to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee published 

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange for the principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee. 

As at July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this report), the Nomination Committee consisted 

of three members, comprising one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Gao Dekang 

(Chairman), Mr. Dong Binggen and Mr. Wang Yao.

During the year under review, two meetings were held by the Nomination Committee to review the structure, size and composition 

of the Board and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. During the year, the Board adopted a 

board diversity policy setting out the approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the 

benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity 

of perspectives that are appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments are made on a merit 

basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of 

diversity perspectives, including but not limited  to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or 

otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates 

will bring to the Board.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The executive committee of the Company (the “Executive Committee”) was established by the Company on June 26, 2014, 

whose primary functions are to be responsible for the management of major strategies and decisions of the Company and 

the supervision of major operating activities of the Company. The Executive Committee takes responsibility for the Board and 

perform the management, coordination and supervision functions during the recess of the Board. The terms of reference of the 

Executive Committee include: supervising the implementation of the major strategies and tactics of the Company; supervising 

the implementation of the Board resolutions; reviewing the major investment and financing plans, merger and acquisition plans, 

business plans, annual operational plans and other management plans submitted by the CEO, and making suggestions to the 

Board.

As at July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this report), the Executive Committee consisted of 

three members, comprising the Chairman of the Board, the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, namely Mr. Gao 

Dekang (Chairman), Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei and Mr. Mak Yun Kuen.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company, and each of the independent non-executive 

Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company, for a fixed term of three years, renewable automatically for 

successive terms of one year, until terminated by either party by giving a 3-month written notice. Each Director is subject to re-

election by the Company at the annual general meeting upon retirement. The articles of association of the Company provide that 

any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after his appointment 

and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall 

hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective internal control system of the Group. The Company 

has conducted reviews of its system of internal control periodically to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal 

control system. The Company convened meetings with the Audit Committee periodically to discuss financial, operational and risk 

management control. The Directors are of the view that the existing system of internal control is effective and adequate to the 

Group.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The articles of association of the Company set out matters which are specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. In order 

to enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the senior management under 

the supervision of the Board. The management team meets regularly to review and discuss with executive Directors on daily 

operational issues, financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure the management is carrying out the 

directions and strategies set by the Board properly.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to oversee the preparation of the financial statements for each financial 

period to ensure that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flow of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2014, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies 

and applied them consistently, adopted appropriate International Financial Reporting Standards, made prudent and reasonable 

judgments and estimates, and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also warrant that 

the Group’s financial statements will be published in a timely manner.

The statement of the auditor of the Group about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out 

in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 61 and page 62 of this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the fees charged by the Company’s external auditor, KPMG, for statutory audit and non-audit 

services are set out below:

 

RMB’000

Statutory audit services (including interim financial report review) 6,600

Non-audit services (including advisory for tax and compliance, internal audit and IT service) 1,197

7,797

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, re-appointment and removal 

of the external auditor, which are subject to the approval by the Board and at the annual general meetings of the Company by its 

shareholders.

Certain factors that the Audit Committee will take into account when assessing the external auditor include the audit performance, 

quality and objectivity and independence of the auditor.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

In the light of the good faith principle, the Company strictly complies with and implements the provisions of the Listing Rules to 

disclose information on a true, accurate, complete and timely basis and all other information that might have a significant impact 

on the decisions of shareholders and other relevant parties in an active and timely manner. Also, the Company makes an effort 

in ensuring that all shareholders have equal access to such information. As such, the Company has duly performed its statutory 

obligation in respect of information disclosure.
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The management believes that effective communication with the investment community is essential. Since the listing of the 

Company in October 2007, the executive Directors and the CEO held regular briefings and results presentations, attended investors’ 

forums and responded to investors’ call-in enquiries, arranged store visits and participated in roadshows to communicate with 

institutional investors and financial analysts in the PRC, Hong Kong and overseas countries to keep them abreast of the newest 

Company’s business and development as well as operating strategies and prospects. In delivering information to investors, the 

Company also listens to their advice and collects feedback from them, in the interests of developing an interactive and mutually 

beneficial relationship with the Company’s investors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post, by facsimile or by email, addressing to the Company’s principal place of 

business in Hong Kong at the following address or facsimile number or email address:

Address: Room 1703A, 17th Floor, Harcourt House 

39 Gloucester Road 

Wanchai 

Hong Kong

Email: bosideng_ir@bosideng.com

Tel: (852) 2866 6918

Fax: (852) 2866 6930

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders of the Company may request to convene extraordinary general meetings. Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of 

association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-

tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times 

have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting 

to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 

two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene 

such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by 

the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to hold the meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the 

Company.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company by sending the same to the Company, either by post, 

by facsimile or by email (the contact details are set out in the section headed “Communications with Shareholders and Investor 

Relations” above), specifying his/her information, contact details and the proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general 

meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting documents.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made by the Company to the memorandum and articles of association of the 

Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Dekang, aged 62, is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. He is a representative of the 10th to 12th 

National Congress and a National Model Worker (全國勞動模範). He is the founder of the Group and is responsible for the overall 

strategic development of the Group. He has over 30 years of experience in the apparel industry. He is a senior economist and a 

senior engineer. He received an EMBA degree (majoring in Business Administration) from Phoenix International University in New 

Zealand in 2002, and obtained a Master’s degree in business management from Victoria University in Switzerland in 2012.

Mr. Gao is holding the following public offices:

Year Public Offices

2004 Vice President of China National Garment Association

2006 First Deputy Director of the Down Apparel and Related Products Committee of China National Garment Association

2010 President of Textile & Garment Chamber of Commerce, All-China Federation of Industry & Commerce

2012 Member of the Executive Committee of China Federation of Industry and Commerce

2012 Invited Vice President of China National Light Industry Council

2012 Chairman of the Board of China Federation of Industrial Economics

2012 Invited Vice Chairman of China National Textile and Apparel Council

Mr. Gao has been widely recognized throughout the years:

Year Award

2009 Outstanding Administrator of the 30th Anniversary (30周年傑出管理者)
2009 National Economic Figure on the 60th Anniversary of the PRC (新中國成立60周年全國經濟新聞人物)
2009 China CEO (中國CEO年度人物)
2009 Meritorious Entrepreneur of China Feather and Down Industry (中國羽絨行業功勳企業家)
2009 60 Outstanding Brand Builders in Memory of the 60th Anniversary of the PRC (建國60年60位功勳品牌人物)
2009 Excellent Contributor of Chinese Socialism (優秀中國特色社會主義事業建設者)
2 0 1 1 Leader of Textile and Apparel Industry in China (中國紡織服裝領軍人物)
2 0 1 1 Person of the Year award of the Leaders (《領袖人物》年度人物大獎)
2012 China Charity Award (中華慈善獎)
2013 China’s Outstanding Quality People (中國傑出質量人)

Mr. Gao is the spouse of Ms. Mei Dong (a Controlling Shareholder and Director), father of Mr. Gao Xiaodong (a Controlling 

Shareholder) and cousin of Ms. Gao Miaoqin (a Director).
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Ms. Mei Dong, aged 46, is an executive Director and the Executive Vice President of the Company. Ms. Mei was appointed as 

an executive Director in July 2006 and is responsible for the operational management of the Group. She has nearly 20 years’ 

experience in the down apparel industry. Ms. Mei obtained various awards and honours such as the recognition of “Successful 

Female Entrepreneur” (巾幗建功) in China and the National Model Worker (全國勞動模範). Ms. Mei joined Bosideng Corporation 

in June 1994, and remained with the Group after the reorganisation of the businesses of the Group prior to its listing. She received 

an EMBA degree (majoring in Business Administration) from Phoenix International University in New Zealand in 2002. She is the 

spouse of Mr. Gao Dekang (a Controlling Shareholder and Director).

Ms. Gao Miaoqin, aged 63, is an executive Director and the Vice President of the Company. Ms. Gao was appointed as an executive 

Director in July 2006 and is responsible for the special investment and public relations matters of the Group. She has over 20 

years’ experience in the down apparel industry. Ms. Gao joined Bosideng Corporation in June 1994, and remained with the Group 

after the reorganisation of the businesses of the Group prior to its listing. She graduated from Suzhou College of Education in 

China in 1985 and received a certificate of advanced English education for middle school English teachers. She is the cousin of Mr. 

Gao Dekang (a Controlling Shareholder and Director).

Ms. Huang Qiaolian, aged 49, is an executive Director and the Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of 

Shanghai Bosideng Fashion Design and Development Centre Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). Ms. Huang was appointed as 

an executive Director in June 2007 and is responsible for conducting the monographic study on the fashion trend of down apparel, 

unveiling the fashion trend and designing high-end down apparel products. Her works have been displayed in numerous exhibitions 

in countries such as Korea, Canada and Russia. She received various honours such as contemporary renowned designer, one of 

the top ten fashion designers in China and the contributing designer in publishing the research on the garment trend in China. 

She has over 20 years’ experience in the fashion industry. She serves various positions in different associations and organisations, 

such as the Council Member of the Fashion Art Committee of China Fashion Association (中國服裝設計師協會時裝藝術委員
會) and the special researcher for the fashion trend of China Fashion. Ms. Huang joined Bosideng Corporation in March 1997 and 

remained with the Group after the reorganisation of the businesses of the Group prior to its listing. She graduated from the School 

of Fashion Design in Jiangsu (江蘇服裝設計學校) in 1987 and further studied in Donghua University majoring in High Fashion in 

1994 and the Public School of High Fashion in Paris, France (法國巴黎高級時裝公學院) in 1999. She studied in East China Normal 

University in Shanghai majoring in Business Administration in 2004.

Mr. Mak Yun Kuen, aged 38, is an executive Director, Company Secretary and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is 

responsible for the overall financial and accounting affairs, investor relations and company secretarial affairs of the Company. 

In addition, Mr. Mak is the director and/or company secretary of certain subsidiaries in the Group. He joined the Company in 

July 2008 and was appointed as an executive Director with effect from May 2013. Mr. Mak graduated from Lingnan University 

with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration (Honours), and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Before joining the Group, he was the qualified 

accountant and company secretary of Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited (03308), a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Rui jinsong, aged 42, vice president of the Company and the general manager of the Group’s core brand business unit. Mr. 

Rui was appointed as an executive Director with effect from May 2013. Mr. Rui is fully responsible for the overall management 

of the core brands of the Group Bosideng, Snow Flying, Combo, Bengen and Slim. Mr. Rui graduated from Wuxi Light Industry 

College majoring in Textile Engineering in 1994. He joined Bosideng Corporation in May 2004 and remained with the Group 

after the reorganisation of the businesses of the Group prior to its listing, from which he acquired practical experience in brand 

management and marketing.
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Mr. Dong Binggen, aged 64, a senior engineer, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2007. 

He graduated from Eastern China Textile Institute (currently known as Donghua University) in 1977. Since February 1997, he has 

worked with Hualian Development Group Co., Ltd. as the Chairman and President, currently he is also the Chairman of China Union 

Holdings Ltd. (000036), a PRC company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He had been the Chairman of the Shenzhen Textile 

Industry Association, the President of the Shenzhen Textile Engineering Association, the member of the Standing Committee and 

the Invited Vice Chairman of China Textile Industry Association. He is currently also the Vice Chairman of China National Textile 

and Apparel Council and the Vice Chairman of the Shenzhen Entrepreneur Association.

Mr. Wang Yao, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2007. He currently serves as the 

Vice President of the China General Chamber of Commerce and director of the China National Commercial Information Center. 

He received a Ph.D. degree in Engineering from Harbin Institute of Technology in 1989. Currently, he is an independent director 

of Golden Eagle Retail Group Ltd. (03308), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang has also become the independent 

director of Hosa International Limited (02200) since May 2014.

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in September 2007. He is 

currently the director and chief executive officer of SW Corporate Services Group Limited, a specialty corporate and compliance 

services provider to companies in pre-IPO and post-IPO stages. Prior to that, he was the director and head of listing services of an 

independent integrated corporate services provider. Dr. Ngai has over 20 years of senior management experience, most of which 

are in the areas of finance, accounting, internal control and regulatory compliance for listed issuers including major red chips 

companies. He is a member of Qualification and Examination Board of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and the Adjunct Professor of Law at Hong Kong Shue Yan University. Dr. Ngai was appointed by the Chief Executive of The Hong 

Kong Special Administrative Region as an unofficial member of Working Group on Professional Services under the Economic 

Development Commission at the beginning of 2013. He is a newly elected member of the General Committee of The Chamber 

of Hong Kong Listed Companies. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, 

an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 

Administrators, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, a fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a 

member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Dr. Ngai obtained a Doctoral Degree in Finance at Shanghai University 

of Finance and Economics in 2011 and received a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 

2002 and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Andrews University of Michigan in 1992 and a Bachelor’s Degree in 

Law at University of Wolverhampton in 1994.
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Dr. Ngai is currently an independent non-executive director of three dual-listing companies whose shares are listed on the Stock 

Exchange (SEHK) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”), namely China Railway Construction Corporation Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 

01186; SSE, Stock Code: 601186), China Railway Group Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 00390, SSE, Stock Code: 601390) and China 

Coal Energy Company Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 01898; SSE, Stock Code: 601898). In addition, Dr. Ngai is the independent non-

executive director of the following companies, namely BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 01338), 

Biostime International Holdings Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 01112), Juda International Holdings Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 01329), 

Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 01238), SITC International Holdings Company Limited (SEHK, Stock 

Code: 01308), Sany Heavy Equipment International Holdings Company Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 00631) and LDK Solar Co., 

Ltd. (whose American depositary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock code: LDK). He was the independent 

non-executive director of Franshion Properties (China) Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 00817) from May 2007 to June 2011 and the 

independent non-executive director of China Life lnsurance Company Limited (SEHK, Stock Code: 02628) from December 2006 to 

May 2009.

Mr. Lian jie, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from July 2013. Mr. Lian is currently 

the Partner of Primavera Capital Group which is a China focused private equity firm. Mr. Lian is also an independent non-executive 

director of Bona Film Group Limited which is a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market (Nasdaq: BONA) and a non-executive 

director of China XLX Fertiliser Limited which is a company listed on the Singapore Exchange (“SGX”) and the Stock Exchange (SGX, 

Stock Code: B9R; SEHK, Stock Code: 1866).

From 2009 to 2010, Mr. Lian served as the Managing Director in China International Capital Corporation (“CICC”) Investment 

Banking Division based in Hong Kong. Prior to joining CICC, Mr. Lian had been the Managing Director of the Investment Banking 

Division of Goldman Sachs in Hong Kong for more than seven years. Mr. Lian graduated with an MBA from the Tuck School of 

Management, Dartmouth College.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei, age 52, joined the Company on May 15, 2014, is the CEO of the Company, responsible for the daily 

operational management of the Group. Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei was the chief strategy officer of Daphne 

International Holdings Ltd (0210) and prior to that, the chief operating officer of Goodbaby International Holdings Ltd (1086), both 

of which are companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei has over 20 years of experience 

in strategic development and operational management of listed corporations. He was also the executive director, president and 

chief executive officer of various companies in China and overseas. Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei was an adjunct professor at the School 

of Management of Tianjin University. Dr. Liang Sheuh-Hvei holds a Ph.D. from Nankai University in Tianjin, the PRC and a Master’s 

Degree in Marketing from Webster University in the United States.

Mr. Liu Wei, aged 46, is the Vice President of the Company, responsible for the audit, legal and business administration matters of 

the Group. Mr. Liu joined Bosideng Corporation in 2004, and remained with the Group after the reorganisation of the businesses 

of the Group prior to its listing. He obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration (MBA) from the Central South University 

and a Master’s Degree in Public Administration (MPA) from Peking University. Mr. Liu is qualified as an internationally certified 

internal auditor, China Certified Public Accountant, senior auditor and China corporate legal advisor.
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The Board presents this annual report, together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended March 31, 

2014 set out in the Auditor’s Report contained in this annual report (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 10, 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability. The 

Group’s operations are substantially conducted through its direct or indirect subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group primarily focuses 

on developing and managing the portfolio of its down apparel brands, which includes research, design and development, raw 

materials procurement, outsourced manufacturing, and marketing and distribution of branded down apparel products, original 

equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) products and non-down apparel products.

The Group’s revenue and net profits attributable to the shareholders during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income on page 63 and Note 5 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 are set out in the Financial Statements included in the Auditor’s 

Report. The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKD2.0 cents (equivalent to approximately 

RMB1.6 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the year ended March 31, 2014, totalling approximately HKD160,147,000.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds (after deduction of related issuance costs) from the Company’s initial public offering including the exercise 

of the over-allotment option amounted to approximately RMB6,012,025,000. The net proceeds were partially applied and such 

application is consistent with the proposed usage of the net proceeds disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated September 27, 

2007 (the “Prospectus”). The unused balance of the net proceeds were deposited in short-term demand deposits and/or money 

market instruments during the year ended March 31, 2014.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity for the five financial years ended March 31, 2014, as extracted from the 

audited financial statements of the Group disclosed in the 2009/2010, 2010/2011, 2011/12 and 2012/13 annual reports, and from 

the financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2014, is set out below.

     

Year ended

March 31,

2010

Year ended

March 31,

2011

Year ended

March 31,

2012

Year ended

March 31,

2013

Year ended

March 31,

2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Results

Profit attributable to:

– Equity holders of the Company 1,078,550 1,276,446 1,436,642 1,078,650 694,704

– Minority interest (5) (4,450) 14,103 (26,036) 7,634

Assets, liabilities and equity

Total assets 8,381,815 9,111,681 11,237,741 12,213,207 12,758,192

Total liabilities 1,568,662 2,144,950 3,886,039 4,927,539 5,380,959

Total equity 6,813,153 6,966,731 7,351,702 7,285,668 7,377,233
 



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/1450

Report of Directors

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Details of acquisition and other movements of the non-current assets during the year are set out in Notes 16 to 20 to the Financial 

Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Group’s share capital during the year ended March 31, 2014 are set out in Note 33 to the Financial 

Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended March 31, 2014 are set out in Note 33 to the Financial 

Statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at March 31, 2014 are set out in Note 28 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

The Group’s charitable and other donations during the year ended March 31, 2014 amounted to RMB8,801,000 (2013: 

RMB5,698,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended March 31, 2014 and up to July 17, 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior 

to the printing of this report) are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Gao Dekang (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Mei Dong

Dr. Kong Shengyuan (Resigned with effect from May 15, 2014)

Ms. Gao Miaoqin

Ms. Huang Qiaolian

Mr. Wang Yunlei (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013)

Mr. Mak Yun Kuen (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013)

Mr. Rui Jinsong (Appointed with effect from May 1, 2013)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Shen Jingwu (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Binggen

Mr. Jiang Hengjie (Resigned with effect from May 1, 2013)

Mr. Wang Yao

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung

Mr. Lian Jie (Appointed with effect from July 10, 2013)
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All of the Directors were appointed for a fixed term of three years under their respective service contracts or appointment letters 
entered into with the Company, renewable automatically for successive terms of one year, until terminated by either party by 
giving a 3-month notice. In accordance with Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general 
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and these retiring 
Directors shall be eligible for re-election at that annual general meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Gao Dekang, Ms. Huang Qiaolian, Mr. 
Mak Yun Kuen and Mr. Dong Binggen shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”). Mr. Gao 
Dekang, Ms. Huang Qiaolian, Mr. Mak Yun Kuen and Mr. Dong Binggen, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 
AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors the confirmation of his independence pursuant to 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” 
in this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES OR DEBENTURES
As at March 31, 2014, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which each of them 
had taken or deemed to have taken under the provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register required to be kept by 
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
Number of 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage 

of interest in 
the Company

Mr. Gao Dekang Other (Note 1) 5,208,791,201 65.05%
Deemed interest (Note 3) 2,763,697 0.035%

Ms. Mei Dong Other (Notes 1 and 4) 5,208,791,201 65.05%
Beneficial owner (Note 2) 2,763,697 0.035%

Dr. Kong Shengyuan Beneficial owner (Note 2) 2,763,697 0.035%
 (Resigned with effect from May 15, 2014)

Ms. Gao Miaoqin Beneficial owner (Note 2) 1,003,697 0.013%

Ms. Huang Qiaolian Beneficial owner (Note 2) 2,763,697 0.035%

Mr. Rui Jinsong Beneficial owner (Note 2) 1,878,242 0.023%
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Notes:
(1) These shares were directly held by Kong Bo Investment Limited (as to 5,156,219,202 shares) and Kong Bo 

Development Limited (as to 52,571,999 shares). Each of Kong Bo Investment Limited and Kong Bo Development 
Limited is wholly owned by Kova Group Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by The GDK Family Trust, the trustee 
of which is Cititrust (Singapore) Limited. The GDK Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Gao Dekang as 
founder, for the benefit of his family members (including Ms. Mei Dong). Accordingly, each of Mr. Gao Dekang and 
Ms. Mei Dong is deemed to be interested in such shares under the SFO.

(2) Each of Ms. Mei Dong, Dr. Kong Shengyuan, Ms. Gao Miaoqin and Ms. Huang Qiaolian was granted 2,763,697 shares, 
and Mr. Rui Jinsong was granted 1,878,242 shares, under the Share Scheme over a vesting period. Ms. Gao Miaoqin 
had disposed of 1,760,000 shares during the reporting period.

(3) Mr. Gao Dekang is the spouse of Ms. Mei Dong. Thus, he is deemed to be interested in the 2,763,697 shares held by 
Ms. Mei Dong under the SFO.

(4) Ms. Mei Dong is the spouse of Mr. Gao Dekang. Thus, she is deemed to be interested in the 5,208,791,201 shares 
held by Mr. Gao Dekang under the SFO.

(b) Long positions in the associated corporations of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

Name of associated

corporation

Number of shares

of the associated

corporation held

Approximate

percentage

of interest in

the associated

corporation

Mr. Gao Dekang Other Kong Bo Investment Limited 100 100.00%

Kong Bo Development Limited 1 100.00%

Kova Group Limited 1 100.00%

Ms. Mei Dong Other Kong Bo Investment Limited 100 100.00%

Kong Bo Development Limited 1 100.00%

Kova Group Limited 1 100.00%

Notes: Kong Bo Investment Limited and Kong Bo Development Limited own 64.39% and 0.66% of the shares of the 
Company (comprising 5,156,219,202 shares and 52,571,999 shares, respectively), each of which is wholly owned 
by Kova Group Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by The GDK Family Trust, the trustee of which is Cititrust 
(Singapore) Limited. The GDK Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Gao Dekang as founder, for the 
benefit of his family members (including Ms. Mei Dong). Accordingly, each of Mr. Gao Dekang and Ms. Mei Dong 
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Kong Bo Investment Limited, Kong Bo Development Limited and Kova 
Group Limited under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2014, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or short 

positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of 

Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 

8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which each of them had taken or deemed to have taken under the 

provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the 

SFO; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that competes or is likely to compete 

(either directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business at any time during the year ended March 31, 2014 and up to the date of this 

report.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, Mr. Gao Dekang has entered into a Non-competition Deed (as defined in the Prospectus) dated 

September 15, 2007 in favour of the Company. Mr. Gao Dekang has provided the Group with a written confirmation that he and his 

associates (other than members of the Group) have fully complied with the Non-competition Deed as at the date of this report.

The independent non-executive Directors have, based on the information available to them, including information and confirmation 

provided by or obtained from Mr. Gao Dekang and his associates (other than members of the Group), for the financial year ended 

March 31, 2014, conducted a review of the compliance with the Non- competition Deed and are of the view that: (i) Mr. Gao Dekang 

and his associates (other than members of the Group) have complied with the non-competition undertakings pursuant to the Non-

competition Deed; and (ii) there have been no decisions taken in relation to whether to exercise the option pursuant to the Non-

competition Deed and whether to pursue any business opportunities which may be referred or offered to the Group by Mr. Gao 

Dekang or his associates (other than members of the Group) pursuant to the Non-competition Deed.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Gao Dekang and his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have entered into certain transactions as further described 

below under the heading “Connected Transactions” and Note 36 to the Financial Statements under the section “Related Party 

Transactions”. Ms. Mei Dong is the spouse of Mr. Gao Dekang and Ms. Gao Miaoqin is the cousin of Mr. Gao Dekang. Save as 

disclosed, no Director had a material interest in any contract of significance to the Group’s business for the year ended March 31, 

2014 in which the Group was a party.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees is based on their performance, qualifications and competence 

displayed.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s 

operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 12 and 13 to 

the Financial Statements.
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PROVIDENT AND RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group’s employees in the PRC participate in various defined contribution schemes provided by the relevant provincial 

and municipal governments under which the Group is required to make monthly contributions to these schemes. The Group’s 

subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds to the retirement schemes, which are calculated on a stipulated percentage of the average 

employee salary provided by the relevant provincial and municipal government. The Group has no further obligations for the 

actual payment of post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit schemes charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 

the year ended March 31, 2014 were RMB61,334,000.

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit schemes are shown in Note 8 to the Financial Statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES

As at March 31, 2014, according to the register of interests kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was 

known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the 

Company, had an interest or short position in the shares which would require disclosure by the Company under the provisions of 

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any 

class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at a general meeting of the Company:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest

Number of 
Shares 

in long position

Approximate 
percentage 

of interest in 
the Company

Cititrust (Singapore) Limited Trustee (Note) 5,208,791,201 65.05%

Kova Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note) 5,208,791,201 65.05%

Kong Bo Investment Limited Corporate interest (Note) 5,156,219,202 64.39%

Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. Investment Manager 401,093,350 5.00%

Note: These Shares were directly held by Kong Bo Investment Limited (as to 5,156,219,202 shares) and Kong Bo Development 
Limited (as to 52,571,999 shares). Each of Kong Bo Investment Limited and Kong Bo Development Limited is wholly owned 
by Kova Group Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by The GDK Family Trust, the trustee of which is Cititrust (Singapore) 
Limited. The GDK Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Gao Dekang as founder, for the benefit of his family 
members (including Ms. Mei Dong). Accordingly, each of Kova Group Limited and Cititrust (Singapore) Limited is deemed to 
be interested in such shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2014, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any 

other person who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares which would require disclosure under the 

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal 

value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at a general meeting of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below under the section headed “Connected Transactions”, no contracts concerning the management and 

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed during the year ended 

March 31, 2014.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into certain non-exempt continuing connected transactions with Mr. Gao Dekang and his associates 

(as defined in the Listing Rules) (other than members of the Group) (the “Parent Group”), which are subject to the reporting, 

announcement and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Certain related 

party transactions as disclosed in Note 36 to the Financial Statements also constituted non-exempt continuing connected 

transactions which were required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied 

with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above mentioned connected transactions.

Further details of these transactions are set out below, in the chapter headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders and 

Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus and in the Company’s announcements dated March 11, 2010, January 9, 2012, April 22, 

2013 and June 26, 2014 and circulars dated March 31, 2010 and February 7, 2012.

FRAMEWORK MANUFACTURING OUTSOURCING AND AGENCY AGREEMENT

The Group outsourced the manufacturing process of down apparel and OEM products to third party manufacturers and the 

Parent Group on a non-exclusive basis. Under the framework manufacturing outsourcing and agency agreement (the “Framework 

Manufacturing Outsourcing and Agency Agreement”) entered into between the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang on September 15, 

2007, the Parent Group shall provide labour, factory, premises, necessary equipment, water and electricity for the processing of 

the down apparel products of the Group. The processing fee is to be charged at the costs to be incurred for the processing services 

estimated by the Group. The information required for the estimations of the costs to be incurred for the processing services is 

transparent, as the Group can easily make reference to the prevailing market information relating to labour costs, rental of similar 

premises and the utilities expenses. The Group is also able to have access to/request the information of the monthly salary, rental, 

utilities expenses incurred by the Parent Group in the previous months for estimation of the actual cost to be incurred for each 

batch of down apparel products.

After determining cost to be incurred for the relevant batch of down apparel products of the Parent Group and the applicable 

mark-up rate ranging from 5% to 10% (depending on place, quantity and the turnaround time of the processing services 

required) (the “Estimated Cost”), the Company will then invite independent third parties to consider if they are able to provide the 

processing services on similar terms (i.e. quality, turnaround time, payment terms) at a fixed price (being the Estimated Cost) or 

any lower price they can offer.

The non-exclusive arrangement under the Framework Manufacturing Outsourcing and Agency Agreement allows the Group to 

appoint other outsourcing manufacturers for the processing of down apparel products if the terms offered by the Parent Group 

are not the most favourable to the Group. The previous charging basis of the mark-up of approximately 15% on the actual cost 

incurred for the processing services is prepared for the restructuring prior to the listing of the Company in 2007, and is no longer 

in use by the Group.
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Should the terms offered by independent manufacturers be lower than the Estimated Cost with other terms similar to or better 

than those offered by the Parent Group, the Group will then appoint the other outsourcing manufacturers for the processing of 

down apparel products.

The Framework Manufacturing Outsourcing and Agency Agreement has an initial term of three years from September 15, 2007 to 

September 14, 2010 and has been renewed and further extended to September 14, 2014.

Subject to compliance by the Group with the relevant requirements applicable to continuing connected transactions under the 

Listing Rules, the Framework Manufacturing Outsourcing and Agency Agreement is renewable at the option of the Company for 

another term of three years or such other term as agreed by the parties by giving at least three months’ notice prior to the expiry 

of the term. Subject to the approval by the independent shareholders of the renewal of the Framework Manufacturing Outsourcing 

and Agency Agreement (including the proposed annual caps thereof), the Company has served the notice to the Parent Group 

indicating that it intended to renew the Agreement for a further term of up to September 14, 2017.

The annual caps approved by the Board for each of the three financial years ended March 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 were 

RMB550,000,000, RMB687,500,000 and RMB859,400,000, respectively. The actual amount of fees paid or payable by the Group 

to the Parent Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 was RMB482,739,000. On June 26, 2014, the Board also resolved to 

propose to the independent shareholders to obtain new annual caps for each of the three financial years ending March 31, 2015, 

2016 and 2017, being RMB570,000,000, RMB673,000,000 and RMB795,000,000, respectively.

FRAMEWORK RAW MATERIAL PURCHASE AGREEMENT

The Group also purchased nanometre fabric from the Parent Group on a non-exclusive basis pursuant to the framework raw 

material purchase agreement (the “Framework Raw Material Purchase Agreement”) dated September 15, 2007 entered into 

between the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang. Under this agreement, the amounts to be paid for the purchase of raw materials from 

the Parent Group for use in down apparel products shall be determined on an arm’s length basis by reference to the prevailing 

market prices of the raw materials, in particular, nanometre fabric, for use in down apparel products or at rates comparable to the 

quality and prices of those similar products offered by the Parent Group to any other independent third party customers.

The term of the Framework Raw Material Purchase Agreement is three years, renewable at the option of the Company for another 

term of three years by giving at least three months’ notice prior to the expiry of the initial term. Either party may terminate the 

Framework Raw Material Purchase Agreement at any time by giving at least three months’ notice. The annual caps approved by 

the Board for each of the three financial years ended March 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 were RMB12,000,000, RMB16,000,000 and 

RMB20,000,000, respectively. On April 22, 2013, the Board approved the proposed annual caps of RMB11,500,000, RMB12,000,000 

and RMB12,500,000 for the three financial years ending March 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. The Company has also 

served a notice of renewal to the Parent Group on April 22, 2013 to renew the agreement for another term of three years from 

September 15, 2013.

The actual amount payable by the Group to the Parent Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 was RMB3,120,000.
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PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENT AND ITS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

The Parent Group leased 16 properties with a total area of approximately 106,002 square metres to the Group, which were used as 

the Group’s regional offices, warehouses or staff dormitory, pursuant to the property lease agreement dated September 15, 2007 

and agreements supplemental to the property lease agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang.

Under the property lease agreement and its supplemental agreements, the annual rental paid and expected to be paid by the 

Group to the Parent Group for the leasing of properties have been determined on an arm’s length basis by reference to the 

prevailing market condition in the PRC and the market rates of comparable properties, which in any event are not higher than the 

rent applicable to a third party tenant at the relevant time.

Pursuant to the property lease agreement dated September 15, 2007, the Parent Group leased 12 properties to the Group. The 

term of each lease granted under the property lease agreement shall be no more than 20 years. Under the property lease 

agreement, the Group may terminate a lease of any premise, by giving a 30-day prior notice, at any time prior to its expiry at its 

sole discretion and without penalty. The Parent Group, on the other hand, is not entitled to terminate any lease under the property 

lease agreement without the Group’s consent.

In April 2009, the Company terminated the leases of three premises and on March 11, 2010, the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang 

entered into the supplemental property lease agreement, pursuant to which the Parent Group agreed to lease five additional 

premises to the Company for a term not exceeding 20 years from the date of the supplemental property lease agreement. On April 

22, 2013, the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang entered into the second supplemental lease agreement pursuant to which the Parent 

Group agreed to lease additional premises in the PRC to the Group from time to time for a term not more than three years from 

April 1, 2013. The new leases to be entered into under the second supplemental lease agreement shall, subject to compliance by 

the Group with the relevant requirements applicable to continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, be renewable at 

the option of the Company for another term of three years by giving at least three months’ notice prior to the expiry of the term. 

The annual caps approved by the Board for the three financial years ended March 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 were RMB11,500,000, 

RMB11,800,000 and RMB12,000,000, respectively. The Board further approved the proposed annual caps of RMB33,000,000, 

RMB35,000,000 and RMB37,000,000 for the three financial years ending March 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, on April 22, 

2013.

The actual amount of rental payable by the Group to the Parent Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 was RMB14,547,000.

FRAMEWORK INTEGRATED SERVICE AGREEMENT

The Parent Group had also provided the Group with various ancillary services, which currently include the provision of hotel 

accommodation, property management services, which include repair and maintenance, security and general cleaning, for the 

properties occupied by the Group in the PRC, pursuant to the framework integrated service agreement (the “Framework Integrated 

Service Agreement”) dated September 15, 2007 entered into between the Company and Mr. Gao Dekang.

The Framework Integrated Service Agreement has an initial term of three years from September 15, 2007 to September 14, 

2010 and has been renewed and further extended to September 14, 2016. Subject to compliance by the Group with the relevant 

requirements applicable to continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, the Framework Integrated Service 

Agreement is renewable at the option of the Company for another term of three years or such other term as agreed by the parties 

by giving at least three months’ notice prior to the expiry of the term.
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The service fees payable by the Group to the Parent Group under the Framework Integrated Service Agreement are determined 

by reference to (i) the rate set by the PRC Government, or (ii) the rate not higher than the rate recommended by the PRC 

Government (if the PRC Government has not fixed a rate), or (iii) the rate not higher than the market price for similar services or 

products provided in the vicinity or the market price for similar services or products provided in the PRC if no market price for 

similar services provided in the vicinity is available, or (iv) a fee agreed by the parties after taking into account the actual cost or 

reasonable cost (whichever is lower) plus reasonable profits for the provision of similar services or products if bases (i) to (iii) are 

not available.

The Board approved the new annual caps of RMB20,000,000, RMB25,000,000 and RMB30,000,000 for the three financial years 

ending March 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, on April 22, 2013.

The actual amount of service fees payable by the Group to the Parent Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 was 

RMB12,828,000.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the continuing 

connected transactions set out above and in Note 36 to the Financial Statements were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or on better terms to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties; 

and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of 

the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the Company’s auditor to perform certain agreed-upon procedures 

in respect of the continuing connected transactions set out above on a sample basis. The auditor has reported their factual 

findings on the selected samples based on the agreed procedures to the Board and has confirmed that the continuing connected 

transactions set out above have complied with the requirements under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved by a resolution of the shareholders passed on September 10, 2007 and 

adopted by a resolution of the Board on September 15, 2007. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the 

provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract skilled and experienced personnel, to incentivise them to remain with the 

Group, to give effect to the Group’s customer-focused corporate culture, and to motivate them to strive for the Group’s future 

development and expansion, by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the Company. The Board may, at 

its absolute discretion, offer any employee, management member or Director of the Company, or any of the Group’s subsidiaries 

and third party service providers options (“Options”) to subscribe for shares on the terms set out in the Share Option Scheme. The 

amount payable on acceptance of an Option is HKD1.00. Details of the Share Option Scheme were provided in the Prospectus.
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Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the Company’s shareholders in general meeting in accordance with the terms of the 

Share Option Scheme, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after 

which no further Options will be granted or offered, but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and 

effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting Option granted prior to the expiry of this 10-year 

period or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which Options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme when aggregated 

with the maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under any other scheme shall not exceed 10% of 

the Company’s issued share capital on the Listing Date (such 10% representing 787,000,000 shares and approximately 9.83% of 

the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this annual report) without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. 

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised 

under the Share Option Scheme and any other Options granted and yet to be exercised under any other scheme shall not exceed 

30% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time (such 30% representing 2,402,205,000 shares as at the date of this 

annual report). No Option may be granted to any person such that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the 

exercise of Options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% 

of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time, unless the approval of the Company’s shareholders is obtained.

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be specified by the Company at the time of grant, and must expire 

no later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option (being the date on which the Board makes a written offer of grant of 

the Option to the relevant proposed beneficiary) unless the Company obtains separate shareholders’ approval in relation to such 

grant.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under an Option upon exercise shall be not less than the highest of (a) the 

closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business 

day; (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five business days 

immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

As at the date of this report, no Options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries had not purchased, sold or redeemed any the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 

March 31, 2014, except that the trustee of the Share Award Scheme, pursuant to the terms of the rules and deed of settlement 

of the Share Award Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 53,508,000 shares of the Company at an aggregate 

consideration of about HKD88.1 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands, which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 

Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this annual report.
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MAjOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the Group’s five largest suppliers (comprising suppliers of down, fabric and ancillary materials) 

together accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total raw material purchases.

Zhongke Bosideng Nanotech Garment (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., the Group’s supplier of fabric developed from nanotechnology, is 68% 

indirectly controlled by Mr. Gao Dekang and his associates. For the year ended March 31, 2014, purchases made by the Group from 

this supplier amounted to RMB2,661,000. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of 

the Company (who or which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any equity 

interest in any of the Group’s major suppliers.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue. Save 

as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors, 

owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s major customers.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the commitments and contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 35 to the Financial Statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the Group’s events after the balance sheet date up to the date of this report are set out in Note 37 to the Financial 

Statements.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements have been audited by KPMG. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s auditor will 

be proposed at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Gao Dekang

Chairman

Hong Kong, June 26, 2014
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of

Bosideng International Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bosideng International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 145, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets 

as at March 31, 2014, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 

view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This report is made 

solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 

for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 

auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 

Group as at March 31, 2014 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

June 26, 2014
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For the year ended March 31,

Note 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

  

Revenue 5 8,237,894 9,324,539
Cost of sales (4,122,438) (4,603,990)

Gross profit 4,115,456 4,720,549

Other income 6 86,957 54,373
Selling and distribution expenses 7 (2,813,603) (2,782,354)
Administrative expenses (459,539) (459,136)
Impairment losses on goodwill 18 (55,000) (89,274)
Impairment losses on customer relationships 18 – (166,790)
Other expenses 6 (8,801) (5,698)

Profit from operations 865,470 1,271,670

Finance income 184,169 305,492
Finance costs (84,917) (120,246)

Net finance income 10 99,252 185,246

Share of profits of associates, net of tax 32 17,585 –

Profit before income tax 982,307 1,456,916

Income tax expense 11 (279,969) (404,302)

Profit for the year 702,338 1,052,614

Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences
 – foreign operations 10 37,817 13,214
Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 10 1,308 12,293
Available-for-sale financial assets reclassified to profit or loss 
 on disposal 10 (14,031) (3,318)
Income tax on items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
 profit or loss 11(c) 3,181 (2,244)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 28,275 19,945

Total comprehensive income for the year 730,613 1,072,559

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 694,704 1,078,650

Non-controlling interests 7,634 (26,036)

Profit for the year 702,338 1,052,614

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 722,736 1,098,739

Non-controlling interests 7,877 (26,180)

Total comprehensive income for the year 730,613 1,072,559

Earnings per share 15

– basic (RMB cents) 8.73 13.55

– diluted (RMB cents) 8.72 13.55

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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At March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 16 991,332 1,012,648

 Prepayment for purchase of properties 16 – 19,776

 Non-current other receivables 30,715 –

 Lease prepayments 17 32,371 33,112

 Intangible assets and goodwill 18 1,007,800 1,098,672

 Investment properties 19 219,474 30,922

 Interest in associates 32 167,585 –

 Deferred tax assets 20 451,501 345,313

2,900,778 2,540,443

Current assets

 Inventories 21 2,042,715 1,970,993

 Trade, bills and other receivables 22 2,099,018 1,603,314

 Receivables due from related parties 36 144,261 94,395

 Prepayments for materials and service suppliers 334,161 319,911

 Other financial assets 23 420,000 460,000

 Available-for-sale financial assets 24 2,082,930 1,642,784

 Pledged bank deposits 25 468,933 1,412,781

 Time deposits with maturity over 3 months 26 147,400 233,230

 Cash and cash equivalents 27 2,117,996 1,935,356

9,857,414 9,672,764

Current liabilities

 Current income tax liabilities 11(d) 197,078 267,130

 Interest-bearing borrowings 28 1,048,638 1,736,988

 Trade and other payables 29 1,558,758 1,618,632

 Payables due to related parties 36 2,806 12,237

2,807,280 3,634,987

Net current assets 7,050,134 6,037,777

Total assets less current liabilities 9,950,912 8,578,220

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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At March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing borrowings 28 2,210,514 919,098

 Non-current other payables 30 181,691 179,268

 Derivative financial liabilities 30 12,050 10,400

 Deferred tax liabilities 20 169,424 183,786

2,573,679 1,292,552

Net assets 7,377,233 7,285,668

Capital and reserves

Share capital 33(c) 622 622

Reserves 7,154,267 7,097,765

Equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 7,154,889 7,098,387

Non-controlling interests 222,344 187,281

Total equity 7,377,233 7,285,668

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on June 26, 2014.

Gao Dekang Gao Miaoqin

Chairman of the Board of Directors Director

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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At March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 16 30 17

 Non-current other receivables 30,715 –

 Investment in subsidiaries 31 2,076,466 2,605,760

2,107,211 2,605,777

Current assets

 Trade, bills and other receivables 22 50,441 41,294

 Dividends due from a subsidiary 1,495,576 –

 Cash and cash equivalents 27 130,603 220,270

1,676,620 261,564

Current liabilities

 Interest-bearing borrowings 28 771,978 1,736,888

 Trade and other payables 29 4,558 7,058

776,536 1,743,946

Net current assets/(liabilities) 900,084 (1,482,382)

Total assets less current liabilities 3,007,295 1,123,395

Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing borrowings 28 2,060,514 919,098

2,060,514 919,098

Net assets 946,781 204,297

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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At March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Capital and reserves

 Share capital 33(c) 622 622

 Reserves 33(d) 946,159 203,675

Total equity 946,781 204,297

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on June 26, 2014.

Gao Dekang Gao Miaoqin

Chairman of the Board of Directors Director

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares held

for the 
Share Award

 Scheme
Capital

reserves
Statutory
reserves

Translation
reserves

Fair value
reserves

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 33) (note 31(b)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(d)) (note 30)
             

Balance at March 31, 2012 622 1,957,439 (34,518) 76,066 689,359 (328,897) 1,481 (249,539) 5,026,228 7,138,241 213,461 7,351,702
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 1,078,650 1,078,650 (26,036) 1,052,614
Foreign currency translation differences
 – foreign operations – – – – – 13,214 – – – 13,214 – 13,214
Net movement in the fair value reserve of
 available-for-sale financial assets, net 
 of tax – – – – – – 6,875 – – 6,875 (144) 6,731

Total comprehensive for the year – – – – – 13,214 6,875 – 1,078,650 1,098,739 (26,180) 1,072,559

Transactions with owners, recorded directly 
 in equity:
Treasury shares held for 
 Share Award Scheme (note 31(b)) – – (37,260) – – – – – – (37,260) – (37,260)
Written put option to non-controlling 
 interests (note 30) – – – – – – – 61,585 – 61,585 – 61,585
Appropriation to reserves – – – – 66,942 – – – (66,942) – – –
Dividends – (1,162,918) – – – – – – – (1,162,918) – (1,162,918)

Balance at March 31, 2013 622 794,521 (71,778) 76,066 756,301 (315,683) 8,356 (187,954) 6,037,936 7,098,387 187,281 7,285,668

Balance at March 31, 2013 622 794,521 (71,778) 76,066 756,301 (315,683) 8,356 (187,954) 6,037,936 7,098,387 187,281 7,285,668
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 694,704 694,704 7,634 702,338
Foreign currency translation differences
 – foreign operations – – – – – 37,817 – – – 37,817 – 37,817
Net movement in the fair value reserve of 
 available-for-sale financial assets, net 
 of tax – – – – (9,785) – – (9,785) 243 (9,542)

            

Total comprehensive for the year – – – – – 37,817 (9,785) – 694,704 722,736 7,877 730,613
            

Transactions with owners, recorded 
 directly in equity:
Contribution from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – 12,081 12,081
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (4,929) (4,929) 4,929 –
Partial disposal of interest in 
 a subsidiary without losing control – – – – – – – – (10,176) (10,176) 10,176 –
Written put option to 
 non-controlling interests (note 30) – – – – – – – (7,146) – (7,146) – (7,146)
Appropriation to reserves 66,391 (66,391) – –
Dividends – (643,983) – – – – – – – (643,983) – (643,983)

            

Balance at March 31, 2014 622 150,538 (71,778) 76,066 822,692 (277,866) (1,429) (195,100) 6,651,144 7,154,889 222,344 7,377,233
            

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Operating activities
Profit for the year 702,338 1,052,614
Adjustments for:
 Income tax expense 279,969 404,302
 Depreciation 109,856 100,322
 Amortization 36,613 58,135
 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (6,314) –
 Impairment losses 55,000 256,064
 Change in fair value of contingent considerations (4,723) (133,185)
 Change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities 1,650 (3,830)
 Net interest income (88,503) (107,764)
 Share of profits of associates (17,585) –

Operating profit before changes in working capital 1,068,301 1,626,658
 Increase in inventories (71,722) (572,132)
 Increase in trade, bills and other receivables and prepayments (500,622) (153,697)
 Increase in receivables due from related parties (49,866) (6,120)
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (53,426) 357,269
 (Decrease)/increase in payables due to related parties (9,431) 11,633

Cash generated from operations 383,234 1,263,611
 Interest paid (65,742) (60,713)
 Income tax paid (468,130) (570,426)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (150,638) 632,472

Investing activities
 Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed of 491 –
 Payment of contingent consideration in connection with acquisition – (52,500)
 Deposits in connection with potential acquisition (40,047) –
 Acquisition of associates (150,000) –
 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (239,936) (280,880)
 Addition of investment properties (603) –
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 17,411 2,445
 Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets (3,446,200) (4,540,789)
 Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 3,011,360 4,374,530
 Acquisition of other financial assets (620,000) (460,000)
 Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets 660,000 755,000
 Increase in pledged bank deposits (12,506) (13,427)
 Decrease in time deposits with maturity over 3 months 85,830 237,791
 Interest received 136,216 168,477

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (597,984) 190,647

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Financing activities
 Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 2,348,796 2,656,098
 Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (1,745,730) (1,740,674)
 Payment for purchase of shares in connection with the Share Award Scheme – (37,260)
 (Increase)/decrease in bank deposits pledged for bank loans (140,000) 312,500
 Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits pledged for issuing standby letters of 
  credit for bank loans 1,096,354 (849,116)
 Dividends paid (643,983) (1,162,918)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 915,437 (821,370)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 166,815 1,749

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,935,356 1,906,951

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 15,825 26,656

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,117,996 1,935,356

The notes on pages 72 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE REPORTING ENTITY

Bosideng International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 10, 2006 as an 

exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of 

the Cayman Islands. Its registered address is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman 

Islands. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the research, design and 

development, raw materials procurement, outsourced manufacturing, marketing and distribution of branded down apparel 

products, original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) products and non-down apparel products in the People’s Republic of 

China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

on October 11, 2007 (the “Listing Date”).

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, which for this financial year and the comparative period continue to be those 

of the predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with transitional and saving arrangements for 

Part 9 of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts and Audit”, which are set out in sections 

76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 

Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out in note 3.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the 

current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(e) provides information on any changes in 

accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to 

the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale financial 

assets, contingent considerations payable and derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value in the 

consolidated balance sheet.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best 

reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the entity (“functional 

currency”). These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”, the “presentation currency”). All financial 

information presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest thousand except otherwise stated. The functional 

currency of the Company is United States Dollars.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 

which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 

financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(e) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a few amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of the 

Group and the Company. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

• Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements – Presentation of items of other comprehensive 

income

• IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

• IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

• Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting 

period.

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements – Presentation of items of other comprehensive 
income

The amendments require entities to present separately the items of other comprehensive income that would be 

reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified 

to profit or loss. The presentation of other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income in these financial statements has been modified accordingly.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(e) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 10 replaces the requirements in IAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements relating to the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements and SIC 12 Consolidation – Special purpose entities. It introduces 

a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated, by focusing on whether the entity 

has power over the investee, exposure or rights or variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the 

ability to use its power to affect the amount of those returns.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 10, the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to determining 

whether it has control over an investee. The adoption does not change any of the control conclusions reached by 

the Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at April 1, 2013.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’s interests in 

subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosures required by 

IFRS 12 are generally more extensive than those previously required by the respective standards. To the extent that 

the requirements are applicable to the Group, the Group has provided those disclosures in notes 31 and 32.

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

IFRS 13 replaces existing guidance in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. IFRS 

13 also contains extensive disclosure requirements about fair value measurements for both financial instruments 

and non-financial instruments. To the extent that the requirements are applicable to the Group, the Group has 

provided those disclosures in note 34. The adoption of IFRS 13 does not have any material impact on the fair value 

measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The amendments introduce new disclosures in respect of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. Those 

new disclosures are required for all recognized financial instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32, 

Financial instruments: Presentation and those that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or 

similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments and transactions, irrespective of whether the financial 

instruments are set off in accordance with IAS 32.

The adoption of the amendments does not have an impact on these financial statements because the Group has 

not offset financial instruments, nor has it entered into master netting arrangement or similar agreement which is 

subject to the disclosures of IFRS 7 during the periods presented.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, 

and have been applied consistently by the Group entities.

(a) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other 

parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that 

control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any 

unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial 

statements. Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealized 

gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, 

and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which 

would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the 

definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling 

interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net 

identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from equity 

attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are 

presented on the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit 

or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders 

of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these 

holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with notes 3(m) or (n) 

depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within 

consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain 

or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that 

subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former 

subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value 

on initial recognition of a financial asset (when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 

associate (see note 3(b)).

In the Company’s balance sheet, investment in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses (see note 

3(j)).
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its 

management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method, 

unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under 

the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of 

the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). 

Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net 

assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see note 3(c) and (j)). Any acquisition-date excess over 

cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the 

year are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, whereas the Group’s share of the 

post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and 

recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying 

amount of the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance 

form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 

extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of 

the asset transferred, in which case they are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not 

remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a 

disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any 

interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is recognized at fair value and 

this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 3(d)).

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(j)).
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 

in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain 

purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is 

allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 3(j)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in 

the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(d) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction price unless 

it is determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and that fair value is 

evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation technique 

that uses only data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except where indicated 

otherwise below. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are 

recognized in profit or loss as incurred. At the each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any 

resultant gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss does not 

include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as these are recognized in accordance with the 

policies set out in note 3(v).

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company have the positive ability and intention to hold to 

maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortized cost less 

impairment losses (see note 3(j)).
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified as available-for-sale 
securities. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognized 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve. Interest income 
from debt securities calculated using the effective interest method are recognized in profit or loss in accordance 
with the policies set out in notes 3(v). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the amortized 
cost of debt securities are also recognized in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognized or impaired (see note 3(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognized in 
equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group commits to 
purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(e) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is 
remeasured. The gain or loss on the remeasurement to fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

(f) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned to earn rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being 
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 3(j)). 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. Depreciation is 
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 20 to 60 years. Depreciation 
methods, useful lives and residual values are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if appropriate.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses (see note 3(j)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an 
appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 3(u)). Purchased software 
that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of 
the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both 
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and 
are recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is 
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(ii) Reclassification to investment property

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is measured 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 3(j)).

(iii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to 

the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. 

Ongoing repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred.

(iv) Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual 

assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, 

that component is depreciated separately. Freehold land with unlimited useful life is measured at cost and 

not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 

each component of an item of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less 

their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as 

follows:

Useful lives Residual value

Buildings 20-60 years 0%~10%

Machinery 5-10 years 4%~10%

Motor vehicles and others 2-10 years 0%~10%

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the 

un-expired term of the 

lease and 3 years

0%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 

if appropriate.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i) Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired by the Group upon acquisition of subsidiaries are measured at fair value 

upon initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, customer relationships are measured at cost 

less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses (see note 3(j)). The estimated useful life 

of customer relationships is 8 to 15 years. The amortization method and useful lives are reviewed at each 

balance sheet date.

(ii) Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses (see note 3(j)). Trademarks acquired in a business combination are recognized initially 

at fair value at the acquisition date and subsequently carried at the amount initially recognized less 

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of trademarks that have 

definite useful lives is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs of acquired trademarks 

over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 20 years.

(iii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 

the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 

goodwill and trademarks, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

(iv) Amortization

Except for goodwill, intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their 

estimated useful lives, from the date that they are available for use.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 

if appropriate.
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(i) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines 

that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for 

a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the 

arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent prepayments of land use rights paid to the various PRC land bureaus. Lease 

prepayments are carried at cost less amortization and accumulated impairment losses (see note 3(j)). 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the land use rights, 

which are 50 years from the respective dates that they are available for use.

(ii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases are 

charged to profit or loss in equal installments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, 

except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the 

leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate 

net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which 

they are incurred.

(j) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that are stated at 

cost or amortized cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet 

date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment 

includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss 

events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 

adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its 

cost.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt securities and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognized as follows:

– For investments in associates accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial 

statements (see note 3(b)), the impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount 

of the investment with its carrying amount in accordance with note 3(j)(ii). The impairment loss is 

reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount in accordance with note 3(j)(ii).

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortized cost, the 

impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 

rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect 

of discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial assets share 

similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed 

as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are 

based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective 

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the impairment 

loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized in prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognized in the fair value 

reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognized in 

profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 

amortization) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognized in 

profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are 

not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is 

recognized in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the subsequent 

increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognized. Reversals of impairment losses in such circumstances are recognized in profit or loss.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt securities and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment losses 

recognized in respect of trade receivables and bills receivable included within trade and other receivables, 

whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts 

are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount 

considered irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables and bills receivable directly and any 

amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 

previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in 

the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognized 

in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify indications 

that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously 

recognized no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– investment properties;

– lease prepayments;

– intangible assets;

– goodwill; and

– investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, 

intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the 

recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value 

in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 

independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest 

group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-

generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized 

in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of 

the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of 

an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or 

value in use (if determinable).

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favorable 

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of 

goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses 

are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognized.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group 

is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in 

respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the 

same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see 

notes 3(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognized in an interim period in respect of goodwill carried at cost are not reversed in 

a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognized had the 

impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of production 

or conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in 

which the related revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value and 

all losses of inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 

any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized 

as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(l) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and thereafter stated at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 3(j)), except where the 

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of 

discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of 

doubtful debts.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any difference between 

the amount initially recognized and redemption value being recognized in profit or loss over the period of the 

borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortized cost unless 

the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash 

and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity 

at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated 

cash flow statement.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 

related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term 

cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 

amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 

for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense 

in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions 

are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 

Contributions to a defined contribution plan that is due more than 12 months after the end of the period in 

which the employees render the service are discounted to their present value.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognized as an employee cost with a 

corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the 

binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 

Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the 

options, the total estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account 

the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting 

adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss 

for the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a 

corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognized as an expense is 

adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital 

reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market 

price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognized in the capital reserve until either the option 

is exercised (when it included in the amount recognized in share capital for the shares issued) or the option 

expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Share-based payment transactions in which the Company grants shares to its subsidiaries’ employees are 

accounted for as an increase in value of investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet which is 

eliminated on consolidation.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits and when it recognizes restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(q) Income tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current 

tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that 

they relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant 

amounts of tax are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax 

bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it 

is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized. 

Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those 

differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in 

the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss 

arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining 

whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused 

tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority 

and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can 

be utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences arising 

from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither 

accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the 

timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the 

case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be 

utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the 

related dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each other 

and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against 

deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a net 

basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realize the current tax assets 

and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realize and settle simultaneously.

(r) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which are present obligations at the date of 
acquisition are initially recognized at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably measured. After their 
initial recognition at fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognized at the higher of the amount initially 
recognized, less accumulated amortization where appropriate, and the amount that would be determined in 
accordance with note 3(r)(ii).

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the Company 
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event. It is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the 
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, 
revenue is recognized in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of value-added tax (“VAT”) or other sales taxes, returns or 
allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists, 
usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyers, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible 
return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, 
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the 
amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales are 
recognized.

Sales of branded down apparel products and non-down apparel products to distributors in the PRC and 
sales of OEM apparels overseas are recognized in accordance with the terms of delivery, provided the 
collectability of sales proceeds is reasonably assured. Sales of branded down apparel products and non-
down apparel products through department stores and retail stores are recognized at the time of sale to the 
retail end customers.

(ii) Rendering of services

Revenue from services rendered is recognized in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of 
work performed.

(iii) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the balance sheet initially when there is reasonable assurance that 
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that 
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized as income in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost 
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognized 
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(iv) Royalty income

Royalties arising from the use by others of the Group’s brands are recognized in profit or loss as other 
income on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(v) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognized in profit or loss in equal installments over 
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the 
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognized 
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are 
recognized as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group 

entities at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains 

and losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates 

the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange 

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of 

foreign operations acquired are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the balance sheet date. 

The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in 

equity in the foreign currency translation reserve (“translation reserve”).

On disposed of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve relating to that foreign 

operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognized.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor 

likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered 

to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, 

and presented in the translation reserve in equity.

(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the 

cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the costs of the qualifying assets commences when expenditures 

for the asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 

the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets ready for their intended use or sale are 

interrupted or complete.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Finance income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including investment in other financial assets and 

available-for-sale financial assets), and gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets. Interest income 

is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings, fair value change of financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities, losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, 

bank charges and foreign currency losses and other interest expense.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost depending 

on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

(w) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 

entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified 

from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the 

purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and 

geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 

have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 

of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 

services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may 

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

4 ACCOUNTING jUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Information about judgments made in applying the Group’s accounting that have the most significant effects on the 

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:

• Note 31(b) – consolidation: whether the Group has control over a trust;

• Note 35(b) – lease classification.

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 11, 18, 20, 22 and 34 contain information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to income 

tax, goodwill impairment, impairment for bad and doubtful debts and fair value of financial instruments. Other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market 

conditions and the historical experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature (such as 

the estimated timing of inventories to be used or sold and the estimated selling price of inventories in 

accordance with the Group’s sales and marketing strategies formulated with reference to the market and 

weather conditions as well as customers’ preference and purchasing power). They could change significantly 

as a result of competitors’ actions in response to severe industry cycles or other changes in market 

conditions. Management will reassess the estimates at each balance sheet date.
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4 ACCOUNTING jUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii) Depreciation and Amortization

The management reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount 

of depreciation and amortization charge for the year. The management determines the remaining useful life 

of the acquired customer relationships and trademarks based on management’s expertise in the industry. 

It could change significantly as a result of changes in the market. The useful lives of other assets are based 

on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological 

changes. The depreciation and amortization expenses for future periods are adjusted if there are significant 

changes from previous estimates.

(iii) Impairment for non-current assets

The management determines the impairment loss on non-current assets other than goodwill if circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The carrying amounts of assets are 

reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts have declined below the carrying 

amounts. These assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying 

amount is reduced to recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. In 

determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present 

value, which requires significant judgment relating to level of sales volume, sales revenue and amount 

of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a 

reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable 

assumptions and projections of sales volume, sales revenue and amount of operating costs.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organized by business lines (products and services). In a manner 

consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management 

for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has identified the following three major 

reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

• Down apparels – The down apparel segment carries on the business of sourcing and distributing branded down 

apparels.

• OEM management – The OEM management segment carries on the business of sourcing and distributing OEM 

products.

• Non-down apparels – The non-down apparel segment carries on the business of sourcing and distributing non-

seasonal apparels, including branded apparels of menswear, ladieswear and casual wear.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment results

 

For the year ended March 31, 2014

Down OEM Non-down

apparels management apparels Group

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from external customers 6,056,663 880,517 1,300,714 8,237,894

Inter-segment revenue – 536 58,375 58,911
    

Reportable segment revenues 6,056,663 881,053 1,359,089 8,296,805
    

Reportable segment profit 

 from operations 650,332 142,990 190,626 983,948
    

Depreciation (58,586) (308) (50,962) (109,856)

Share of profits of associates – – 17,585 17,585

Impairment losses on goodwill – – (55,000) (55,000)

 

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Down OEM Non-down

apparels management apparels Group

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from external customers 7,093,695 954,880 1,275,964 9,324,539

Inter-segment revenue – 2,084 36,886 38,970

Reportable segment revenues 7,093,695 956,964 1,312,850 9,363,509

Reportable segment profit/

 (loss) from operations 1,533,866 175,380 (41,952) 1,667,294

Depreciation (38,745) (637) (60,940) (100,322)

Impairment losses on 

 customer relationships – – (166,790) (166,790)

Impairment losses on goodwill – – (89,274) (89,274)
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit before income tax

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Revenue

Reportable segment revenues 8,296,805 9,363,509

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (58,911) (38,970)
 

Consolidated revenue 8,237,894 9,324,539
 

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Profit before income tax

Reportable segment profit derived from

 the Group’s external customers 983,948 1,667,294

Amortization expenses (36,613) (58,135)

Government grants 66,228 40,505

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 6,314 –

Impairment losses (55,000) (256,064)

Unallocated expenses (81,822) (121,930)

Finance income 184,169 305,492

Finance costs (84,917) (120,246)
 

Consolidated profit before income tax 982,307 1,456,916
 

(c) Geographic information

Except for land and buildings and investment properties with the aggregate carrying amount of RMB319,987,000 

(March 31, 2013: RMB300,504,000) located in the United Kingdom, all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment 

and investment properties are located in mainland China at March 31, 2014.

The geographical location of an asset is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant 

and equipment and investment property, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case 

of intangible assets.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the revenue derived from the Group’s European operation was RMB9,785,000 

(2013: RMB6,210,000).
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6 OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES)

  

For the year ended March 31,

Note 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Royalty income (i) 14,415 13,868

Government grants (ii) 66,228 40,505

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 6,314 –

Other income 86,957 54,373

Other expenses – Donations (8,801) (5,698)

(i) Royalty income arises from the use by other entities of the Group’s brands.

(ii) The Group received unconditional discretionary grants amounting to RMB66,228,000 for the year ended March 

31, 2014 (2013: RMB40,505,000) from various local PRC government authorities in recognition of the Group’s 

contribution to the development of the local economies.

7 SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Advertising 353,586 301,758

Promotion 532,120 607,360

Concessionaire fees 795,003 682,609

Personnel expenses 723,320 590,567

Tax and surcharges 62,109 80,742

Entertainment and travelling 75,757 84,046

Depreciation 59,315 61,049

Rental 160,651 142,148

Amortization 35,872 57,394

Others 15,870 174,681
 

Total 2,813,603 2,782,354
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8 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Salaries, wages and other benefits 864,187 709,098

Contributions to defined contribution plans 61,334 58,230
 

925,521 767,328
 

Contributions made by the Group to pension funds are dealt with in profit or loss when incurred. The Group contributes to 

pension funds based on certain percentages of the average salary level according to the pension fund requirements of the 

various provinces in the PRC in which its operations are located. The Group remits all pension fund contributions to the 

respective social security offices, which are responsible for the payment and liabilities relating to the pension funds.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of retirement benefits other than the contributions described 

above.

9 EXPENSES BY NATURE

The following expenses are included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses included in cost of sales 4,024,009 4,476,147

Write down of inventories to their net realizable value 98,429 127,843

Depreciation

– Assets leased out under operating leases 1,333 1,200

– Other assets 108,523 99,122

Amortization 36,613 58,135

Operating lease charges 201,828 181,969

(Reversal)/Provision for impairment of bad and doubtful debts (22,073) 21,283

Auditors’ remuneration 6,600 6,950
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10 NET FINANCE INCOME

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Recognized in profit or loss:

Interest income on bank deposits 52,432 72,315

Interest income on available-for-sale financial assets 86,270 68,738

Interest income on other financial assets 15,543 27,424
 

Total interest income on financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss 154,245 168,477

Change in fair value of contingent consideration (note 30) 4,723 133,185

Change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities (note 30) – 3,830

Net foreign exchange gain 25,201 –
 

Finance income 184,169 305,492
 

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings (65,742) (60,713)

Bank charges (17,525) (40,693)

Change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities (note 30) (1,650) –

Net foreign exchange loss – (18,840)
 

Finance costs (84,917) (120,246)
 

Net finance income recognized in profit or loss 99,252 185,246
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a) Income tax in profit or loss represents:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Current tax expenses

Provision for PRC income tax 398,078 622,094

Deferred tax benefit

Origination of temporary differences (note 20(a)) (118,109) (217,792)
 

279,969 404,302
 

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not 

subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

(ii) No tax provision has been made for Bosideng America Inc., Bosideng UK Limited and Bosideng Retail 

Limited, as they do not have any assessable profits subject to income tax in the United States or the United 

Kingdom during the year.

(iii) No tax provision has been made for Talent Shine Limited, Hong Kong Bestmate Limited, Bosideng 

International Fashion Limited, Long Pacific (H.K.) Ltd. and Rocawear (China) Limited, as they do not have 

any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year.

(iv) The provision for PRC income tax is based on the respective applicable rates on the estimated assessable 

income of each of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC as determined in accordance with the relevant income 

tax rules and regulations of the PRC.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the standard income tax rate for all domestic companies established in the PRC 

was 25%, except for Shanghai Bosideng Information Technology Co., Ltd., a software enterprise in the PRC, which 

was granted a tax holiday by the local tax bureau of tax-exemption for 2 years starting from January 1, 2012 and 

50% reduction on the applicable income tax rates for 3 years starting from January 1, 2014.

The effective tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2014 was approximately 28.5%, higher than the standard PRC 

income tax rate of 25%, which was mainly attributable to the combined effect of non-deductible expenses, tax 

losses not recognized as deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries of the Group and tax preferential rate enjoyed 

by the subsidiary mentioned above.
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

  

For the year ended March 31,
2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Profit before income tax 982,307 1,456,916
 

Income tax at the applicable PRC income tax rate of 25% 245,577 364,229
Tax losses not recognized as deferred tax assets 32,283 24,987
Non-deductible expenses 56,316 16,921
Effect of tax concessions of PRC operations (52,535) (1,986)
Others (1,672) 151

 

Income tax expense 279,969 404,302
 

(c) Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income:

      

For the year ended March 31,
2014 2013

Before tax 
amount

Tax expense Net of tax 
amount

Before tax 
amount

Tax expense Net of tax 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Foreign currency translation 
 differences – 
 foreign operations 37,817 – 37,817 13,214 – 13,214
Net movement in the fair value 
 reserve of available-for-sale 
 financial assets (12,723) 3,181 (9,542) 8,975 (2,244) 6,731

      

Other comprehensive income 25,094 3,181 28,275 22,189 (2,244) 19,945
      

(d) Income tax payable in the consolidated balance sheet represents:

  

For the year ended March 31,
2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Balance at beginning of the year 267,130 215,462
Provision for current income tax for the year 398,078 622,094
Payments during the year (468,130) (570,426)

 

Income tax payable at the end of the year 197,078 267,130
 



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14 101

12 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 78 of Schedule 11 to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 

622), with reference to section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2014

      

Salaries,

allowances Contributions

and Equity-settled to defined

Directors’ other benefits Discretionary share-based contribution

fees in kind bonuses payments schemes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Gao Dekang 480 4,660 – – – 5,140

Mei Dong 180 2,259 – – 72 2,511

Gao Miaoqin 180 1,017 – – – 1,197

Kong Shengyuan (resigned with effect from 

 May 15, 2014) 180 126 – – 1 307

Huang Qiaolian 180 1,033 – – 30 1,243

Wang Yunlei (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 15 – – – 6 21

Mak Yun Kuen (appointed with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 165 1,485 – – 14 1,664

Rui Jinsong (appointed with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 165 1,563 – – 20 1,748

Non-executive directors

Shen Jingwu (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) – – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Dong Binggen 330 – – – – 330

Jiang Hengjie (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 28 – – – – 28

Wang Yao 330 – – – – 330

Ngai Wai Fung 385 – – – – 385

Lian Jie (appointed with effect from 

 July 10, 2013) 240 – – – – 240
      

2,858 12,143 – – 143 15,144
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12 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

      

Salaries,

allowances Contributions

and Equity-settled to defined

Directors’ other benefits Discretionary share-based contribution

fees in kind bonuses payments schemes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Executive directors

Gao Dekang 480 4,414 – – – 4,894

Mei Dong 180 2,168 – – 68 2,416

Gao Miaoqin 180 967 – – – 1,147

Kong Shengyuan (resigned with effect from 

 May 15, 2014) 180 1,088 – – 11 1,279

Huang Qiaolian 180 1,021 – – 28 1,229

Wang Yunlei (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 180 – – – 68 248

Non-executive directors

Shen Jingwu (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) – – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Dong Binggen 330 – – – – 330

Jiang Hengjie (resigned with effect from 

 May 1, 2013) 330 – – – – 330

Wang Yao 330 – – – – 330

Ngai Wai Fung 385 – – – – 385

2,755 9,658 – – 175 12,588

During the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of 

the other five highest paid individuals set out in note 13 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 

compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, Mr. Shen Jingwu, a non-executive director, waived director’s fees of approximately 

RMB39,000 (2013: RMB468,000).
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13 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments during the year ended March 31, 2014, 5 (2013: 3) are directors whose 

emoluments are disclosed in note 12. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two individuals during the 

year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Salaries and other emoluments – 2,370

Discretionary bonus – 2,397

Retirement scheme contributions – 18
 

– 4,785
 

The emoluments of the other two individuals during the year ended March 31, 2013 with the highest emoluments are within 

the following bands:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

HKD1,500,001 – HKD2,000,000

 (equivalent to RMB1,200,526 to RMB1,600,700) – 1

HKD3,500,001 – HKD4,000,000

 (equivalent to RMB2,801,226 to RMB3,201,400) – 1
 

– 2
 

14 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2014 includes a 

profit of RMB1,390,762,000 (2013: a loss of RMB78,333,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 

Company.
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15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended March 31, 2014 is based on the profit attributable 

to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company for the year of RMB694,704,000 (2013: RMB1,078,650,000) and 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended March 31, 2014 of 7,953,842,000 

shares (2013: 7,957,797,000 shares), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

’000 ’000
 

Issued ordinary shares at April 1 7,953,842 7,979,254

Effect of treasury shares held for Share Award Scheme (note 31(b)) – (21,457)
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at March 31 7,953,842 7,957,797
 

Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 8.73 13.55
 

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended March 31, 2014 is based on the profit attributable 

to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company for the year of RMB694,704,000 (2013: RMB1,078,650,000) and 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended March 31, 2014 of 7,965,212,000 

shares (2013: 7,963,430,000 shares), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted):

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

’000 ’000
 

Issued ordinary shares at April 1 7,953,842 7,979,254

Effect of treasury shares held for Share Award Scheme (note 31(b)) – (21,457)

Effect of dilution -Written put option (note 30(b)) 11,370 5,633
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at March 31 7,965,212 7,963,430
 

Diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) 8.72 13.55
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

      

Motor

Land and vehicles Leasehold Construction

Buildings Machinery and others improvements in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At March 31, 2012 404,209 19,369 220,257 61,758 165,876 871,469

 Additions 151,473 6,639 47,466 21,772 179,805 407,155

 Transfer 22,869 – 3,212 6,580 (32,661) –

 Movement of exchange rate (11,329) – (57) – (1,241) (12,627)

 Reclassification to 

  investment properties (note 19) (17,606) – – – – (17,606)

 Disposals – (120) (29,206) (5,918) – (35,244)

 At March 31, 2013 549,616 25,888 241,672 84,192 311,779 1,213,147

 Additions 4,943 2,160 47,049 28,604 169,376 252,132

 Transfer 286,682 – 2,106 59,104 (347,892) –

 Movement of exchange rate 21,061 – 76 – – 21,137

 Reclassification to

  investment properties (note 19) (136,509) – – – (35,038) (171,547)

 Disposals (3,200) (446) (35,767) (15,795) – (55,208)

 At March 31, 2014 722,593 27,602 255,136 156,105 98,225 1,259,661
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group (continued)

      

Motor

Land and vehicles Leasehold Construction

Buildings Machinery and others improvements in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accumulated depreciation:

 At March 31, 2012 (17,517) (7,977) (89,993) (21,179) – (136,666)

 Depreciation charged

  for the year (9,141) (2,409) (58,310) (29,262) – (99,122)

 Movement of exchange rate 52 – 6 – – 58

 Reclassification to

  investment properties (note 19) 2,432 – – – – 2,432

 Disposals – 103 26,943 5,753 – 32,799

 At March 31, 2013 (24,174) (10,283) (121,354) (44,688) – (200,499)

 Depreciation charged

  for the year (16,304) (2,689) (56,621) (32,909) – (108,523)

 Movement of exchange rate (287) – (5) – – (292)

 Reclassification to

  investment properties (note 19) 3,188 – – – – 3,188

 Disposals 468 238 21,296 15,795 – 37,797

 At March 31, 2014 (37,109) (12,734) (156,684) (61,802) – (268,329)

Net book value:

 At March 31, 2014 685,484 14,868 98,452 94,303 98,225 991,332

 At March 31, 2013 525,442 15,605 120,318 39,504 311,779 1,012,648

Except for freehold land and buildings with carrying amount of RMB198,712,000 (March 31, 2013: RMB284,466,000) which 

were located in the United Kingdom, all other buildings were located in mainland China at March 31, 2014. The properties 

located in the United Kingdom were acquired by the Group in June 2011, and function as the Group’s European flagship 

store as well as its headquarters in Europe.
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at March 31, 2014, no interest expense was capitalized as the borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 

qualifying assets are not significant.

The Company

 

Motor vehicles

and others

RMB’000

Cost:

 At March 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 1,609

 Additions 44

 At March 31, 2014 1,653

Accumulated depreciation:

 At March 31, 2012 (1,431)

 Depreciation charge for the year (161)

 At March 31, 2013 (1,592)

 Depreciation charge for the year (31)

 At March 31, 2014 (1,623)

Net book value:

 At March 31, 2014 30

 At March 31, 2013 17
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17 LEASE PREPAYMENTS

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cost:

 At April 1 35,770 35,770

 Additions – –
 

 At March 31 35,770 35,770
 

Accumulated amortization:

 At April 1 (2,658) (1,917)

 Amortization charge for the year (741) (741)
 

 At March 31 (3,399) (2,658)
 

Net book value:

 At March 31 32,371 33,112
 

Lease prepayments represent cost of land use rights in respect of land located in the PRC with a lease period of 50 years 

when granted.
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The Group

 

Customer

Goodwill relationships Trademarks Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At March 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 777,053 597,882 206,765 1,581,700

Amortization and impairment losses:

 At March 31, 2012 – (165,282) (4,288) (169,570)

 Amortization charge for the year – (47,098) (10,296) (57,394)

 Impairment losses (89,274) (166,790) – (256,064)

 At March 31, 2013 (89,274) (379,170) (14,584) (483,028)

 Amortization charge for the year – (24,993) (10,879) (35,872)

 Impairment losses (55,000) – – (55,000)

 At March 31, 2014 (144,274) (404,163) (25,463) (573,900)

Net book value:

 At March 31, 2014 632,779 193,719 181,302 1,007,800

 At March 31, 2013 687,779 218,712 192,181 1,098,672

The amortization of customer relationships and trademarks charge for the year is included in “selling and distribution 

expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing for cash-generating unit containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions. The aggregate carrying 

amount of goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit (CGU) is as follows:

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Menswear 228,467 228,467

Ladieswear 404,312 459,312
 

632,779 687,779
 

The recoverable amounts of Menswear CGU and Ladieswear CGU were estimated based on the value in use, determined 

by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGUs. The value in use calculation 

uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews 

covering a five-year period. Cash-flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated annual growth rate 

of 3%. The discount rate used is the CGU’s specific weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect 

the systematic risk of the specific CGU.

Based on the assessment, there was no impairment required on the Menswear CGU. The carrying amount of Ladieswear 

CGU was higher than its recoverable amount, and impairment losses of RMB55,000,000 (2013: RMB25,000,000) were 

recognized in profit or loss. The impairment losses were fully allocated to goodwill. The estimate of value in use of 

Menswear CGU and Ladieswear CGU was determined using a post-tax discount rate of 20% and 24%, respectively.
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19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cost:

 At April 1 35,312 18,666

 Additions 20,379 –

 Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (note 16) 171,547 17,606

 Effect of movement in exchange rates 1,302 (960)
 

 At March 31 228,540 35,312
 

Accumulated depreciation:

 At April 1 (4,390) (845)

 Charge for the year (1,333) (1,200)

 Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (note 16) (3,188) (2,432)

 Effect of movement in exchange rates (155) 87
 

 At March 31 (9,066) (4,390)
 

Net book value:

 At March 31 219,474 30,922
 

Investment properties comprise land and buildings that are leased to third parties. As at March 31, 2014, freehold 

investment properties of RMB121,275,000 (March 31, 2013: RMB16,038,000) represented land and buildings located in the 

United Kingdom and leasehold investment properties of RMB98,199,000 (March 31, 2013: RMB14,884,000) represented 

buildings located in mainland China. The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases carry 

rentals determined based on the lease contract with third parties for a period of typically five to eight years.

As at March 31, 2014, the aggregate fair value of the investment properties located in the United Kingdom was 

approximately GBP13,332,000 (equivalent of RMB136,497,000) (2013: GBP1,900,000 (equivalent of RMB18,120,000), which 

was based on the valuation performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer, on an open market, existing use 

basis. The aggregate fair value of the investment properties located in mainland China was approximately RMB116,514,000 

(2013: RMB19,758,000), which was based on the valuation performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer, on 

an open market, existing use basis.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, rental income of RMB3,337,000 (2013: RMB3,081,000) was recognized in profit or 

loss.
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19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Within 1 year 5,236 1,865

After 1 year but within 5 years 19,125 5,401

After 5 years 267 242
 

24,628 7,508
 

20 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognized in the consolidated balance sheets and the 

movements during the years are as follows:

       

Write down

of inventory

Provision for

impairment

loss for bad

and doubtful

debts

Customer

relationships

and

Trademark

Undistributed

retained

earnings

of PRC

subsidiaries

Unrealized

profits

arising from

intra-group

transactions Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

At March 31, 2012 50,463 2,660 (153,571) (95,828) 48,307 93,948 (54,021)

Credited to profit or loss 22,170 8,906 45,774 27,517 93,112 20,313 217,792

Charged to other 

 comprehensive income – – – – – (2,244) (2,244)

At March 31, 2013 72,633 11,566 (107,797) (68,311) 141,419 112,017 161,527

Credited to profit or loss 22,465 8,606 15,021 – 20,616 51,401 118,109

Credited to other 

 comprehensive income – – – – – 3,181 3,181

Disposal of a subsidiary – – – – – (740) (740)

At March 31, 2014 95,098 20,172 (92,776) (68,311) 162,035 165,859 282,077
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20 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) (continued)

The EIT Law and its relevant regulations impose a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a tax treaty or 

arrangement, for dividend distributions out of the PRC from earnings accumulated from January 1, 2008. 

Undistributed earnings generated prior to January 1, 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax. Deferred tax 

liabilities have been recognized for the retained earnings recorded in the books and accounts of the Group’s PRC 

subsidiaries generated after January 1, 2008, which management estimates will be distributed outside of the PRC 

within the foreseeable future.

(b) Reconciliation to the consolidated balance sheet:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Net deferred tax assets 451,501 345,313

Net deferred tax liabilities (169,424) (183,786)
 

282,077 161,527
 

(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognized

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Accumulated tax losses of subsidiaries 329,127 200,296
 

Retained earnings from PRC subsidiaries not expected to be 

 distributed outside of the PRC in the foreseeable future (3,677,331) (2,830,738)
 

No deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of the cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries of 

the Group as at March 31, 2014, as management consider that it is not probable that the entities concerned will 

generate sufficient future taxable profits against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. Under the PRC tax 

regulations, tax losses can be carried forward for five years after the year of loss.

Deferred tax liabilities in relation to withholding tax have not been recognized for the above retained earnings from 

PRC subsidiaries as the Company controls the timing and amounts of distribution and does not expect to incur such 

liabilities in the foreseeable future.



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

21 INVENTORIES

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Raw materials 157,183 153,948

Work in progress 17,061 98,478

Finished goods 1,868,471 1,718,567
 

2,042,715 1,970,993
 

At March 31, 2014, inventories carried at net realizable value amounted to approximately RMB309,258,000 (2013: 

RMB542,818,000).

All of the inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.

22 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade receivables 1,500,462 1,074,911 – –

Bills receivable 79,410 73,794 – –

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (111,613) (134,622) – –
  

1,468,259 1,014,083 – –

Third party other receivables:

– VAT recoverable 288,320 258,049 – –

– Deposits 282,033 233,805 48,043 38,711

– Advances to employees 7,485 11,242 – –

– Others 52,921 86,135 2,398 2,583
  

2,099,018 1,603,314 50,441 41,294
  

All of the trade, bills and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
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22 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

As of the balance sheet date, the ageing analysis of trade receivables and bills receivable (which are included in 

trade, bills and other receivables), based on the invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of 

impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts, is as follows:

    

The Group 

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within credit terms 1,159,119 942,660 – –

1 to 3 months past due 162,970 57,842 – –

Over 3 months but less than 

 6 months past due 124,348 11,066 – –

Over 6 months but less than 

 12 months past due 21,822 2,322 – –

Over 1 year past due – 193 – –
  

1,468,259 1,014,083 – –
  

Trade receivables and bills receivable are generally due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Further 

details on the Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit and currency risk related to trade, bills and other 

receivables are disclosed in note 34.
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22 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables and bills receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables and bills receivable are recorded using an allowance account 

unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off 

against trade receivables and bills receivable directly (see note 3(j)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific and collective loss 

components, is as follows:

    

The Group

For the year ended March 31,

The Company

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At April 1 134,622 116,353 – –

(Reversal)/provision for impairment of 

 bad and doubtful debts (22,073) 21,283 – –

Uncollectible amounts written off (936) (3,014) – –
  

At March 31 111,613 134,622 – –
  

At March 31, 2014, the Group’s trade receivables and bills receivable of RMB89,537,000 (2013: RMB184,962,000) 

were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to customers that were 

in financial difficulties and management assessed that only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. 

Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of RMB11,415,000 (2013: RMB26,239,000) were recognized.
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22 TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c) Trade receivables and bills receivable that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables and bills receivable that are neither individually nor collectively considered 

to be impaired are as follows:

    

The Group

For the year ended March 31,

The Company

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Neither past due nor impaired 1,080,997 783,937 – –
  

    

1 to 3 months past due 152,400 57,842 – –

Over 3 months but less than 

 6 months past due 123,266 11,066 – –

Over 6 months but less than 

 12 months past due 21,532 82 – –

Over 1 year past due – 193 – –
  

297,198 69,183 – –
  

1,378,195 853,120 – –
  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was no 

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good 

track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is 

necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances 

are still considered fully recoverable.

23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other financial assets represent investments in short-term wealth management products issued by banks in the PRC, with 

guaranteed principals and fixed returns, ranging from 5.85% to 6.50% (2013: 4.80% to 4.90%) per annum.

24 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets represent investments in short-term wealth management products issued by banks in the 

PRC, with guaranteed principals and expected but not guaranteed returns, ranging from 3.80% to 6.21% (2013: 4.00% to 

6.81%) per annum.
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25 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank deposits are pledged to banks as security for the following activities:

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Standby letters of credit 300,000 1,396,354

Bank borrowings (note 28) 140,000 –

Bills payable and letter of credit facilities 28,933 16,427
 

468,933 1,412,781
 

The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of the relevant bank borrowings, bills payable and letters 

of credit facilities.

26 TIME DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY OVER 3 MONTHS

The Group’s time deposits of RMB147,400,000 (March 31, 2013: RMB233,230,000) as at March 31, 2014 were deposited in 

banks for a period of over three months.

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cash at bank and on hand 2,734,329 3,581,367 130,603 220,270

Less: pledged bank deposits (468,933) (1,412,781) – –

 time deposits with maturity over 3 months (147,400) (233,230) – –
  

Cash and cash equivalents 2,117,996 1,935,356 130,603 220,270
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Cash at bank and on hand are denominated in:

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

– RMB 2,503,231 3,247,287 – –

– USD 105,507 186,133 80,346 157,067

– HKD 121,714 128,287 50,257 63,203

– GBP 3,873 19,597 – –

– EUR 4 63 – –
  

2,734,329 3,581,367 130,603 220,270
  

The Group’s cash and bank balances denominated in RMB are deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into 

foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

28 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

At March 31, 2014, the interest-bearing borrowings were repayable as follows:

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 year or on demand 1,048,638 1,736,988 771,978 1,736,888
  

After 1 year but within 2 years 1,219,103 183,820 1,069,103 183,820

After 2 years but within 5 years 991,411 735,278 991,411 735,278
  

2,210,514 919,098 2,060,514 919,098
  

3,259,152 2,656,086 2,832,492 2,655,986
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28 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

At March 31, 2014, the interest-bearing borrowings were secured as follows:

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Bank loans     

– Secured 1,026,379 1,736,888 599,719 1,736,888

– Unsecured 2,232,773 919,198 2,232,773 919,098
  

3,259,152 2,656,086 2,832,492 2,655,986
  

Bank borrowings of RMB749,719,000 as at March 31, 2014 (March 31, 2013: RMB1,736,888,000) were secured by standby 

letters of credit.

Bank borrowings of RMB276,660,000 as at March 31, 2014 (March 31, 2013: Nil) were secured by pledged bank deposits of 

RMB140,000,000. (March 31, 2013: Nil) (note 25).

Unsecured long-term bank loans of RMB2,232,773,000 are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of the 

Group’s balance sheet ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were 

to breach the covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its 

compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 34(b). As 

at March 31, 2014, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (March 31, 2013: nil).



Bosideng International Holdings LimitedAnnual Report 2013/14 121

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade payables 690,154 544,897 – –

Other payables and accrued expenses

– Deposits from customers 282,833 438,461 – –

– Construction payables 61,670 49,474 – –

– Accrued rebates and commissions 45,134 186,400 – –

– Accrued advertising expenses 9,970 31,803 – –

– Accrued payroll and welfare 145,292 144,176 1,556 1,642

– VAT payable 117,298 64,841 – –

– Dividends payable 5,000 5,000 – –

– Others 201,407 153,580 3,002 5,416
  

1,558,758 1,618,632 4,558 7,058
  

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

As of the balance sheet date, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 month 316,007 215,862 – –

1 to 3 months 374,147 329,035 – –
  

690,154 544,897 – –
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30 NON-CURRENT OTHER PAYABLES

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Contingent consideration payable 659 5,382

Cash-settled written put option 181,032 173,886
 

181,691 179,268
 

On November 4, 2011, the Group obtained control of Talent Shine Limited and Sunny Bright Global Investments Limited 

(collectively known as “Ladieswear”) by acquiring 70% of the shares and voting interests of the Ladieswear business. 

Pursuant to the relevant sales and purchase agreement (the “SPA”), the total consideration payable comprised cash 

consideration of RMB148 million, issuance of 235,000,000 new ordinary shares, and contingent consideration, the amount 

of which depended on Ladieswear’s adjusted net profit (as defined in the SPA), and shall be payable within three years 

from March 31, 2012 to March 31, 2015. In addition, the Group granted a written put option to Talent Shine International 

Limited, the non-controlling equity shareholder of Ladieswear, giving it the right to sell its entire interest in Ladieswear 

after March 31, 2015 at a consideration which comprises cash and a variable number of shares. The consideration for 

exercising the put option depends on Ladieswear’s adjusted net profit for the year ending March 31, 2015 and in total shall 

not exceed RMB900,000,000.

(a) Contingent consideration payable

At March 31, 2014, the fair value of the contingent consideration payable was RMB659,000 (2013: RMB5,382,000), 

which was included in the “Non-current other payables”, in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 

2014.

The decrease in the balance during the year is attributable to the decrease in the fair value of the contingent 

consideration payable of RMB4,723,000, which was recorded in profit or loss (note 10).

(b) Written put option to non-controlling equity shareholder

As at March 31, 2014, the Group recorded the present value of the redemption price of the cash settled portion of 

the written put option of RMB181,032,000 (2013: RMB173,886,000) as a non-current payable with the corresponding 

decrease in other reserve.

As at March 31, 2014, the fair value of the share settled portion of the written put option amounted to 

RMB12,050,000 (2013: RMB10,400,000), which was recorded as derivative financial liabilities with fair value change 

of RMB1,650,000 (note 10) being recognized in profit or loss.
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31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

  

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Investment, at cost – –

Advances to subsidiaries 1,879,172 2,408,466

Investment in a trust for the Share Award Scheme (note 31(b)) 121,228 121,228

Equity-settled share-based payments 76,066 76,066
 

2,076,466 2,605,760
 

Advances to subsidiaries included in the investment in subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and expected to be 

repayable beyond one year.

(a) Subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or 

liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

     

Place of Proportion of ownership interest

incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s

establishment issued and paid effective Held by the Held by a

Name of company and business up capital interest company subsidiary Principal activity

1) Enterprises established outside the PRC

Bosideng International Fashion Ltd.

波司登國際服飾有限公司
British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)

USD1 100% 100% – Investment holding

Talent Shine Limited

廸暉有限公司 

Hong Kong 10,000 Shares 70% – 70% Sourcing and distribution 

of non-down apparels

Long Pacific (H.K.) Ltd. 

長隆（香港）有限公司
Hong Kong 10,000 Shares 100% – 100% Investment holding

Ying Fai International Investment Limited

盈輝國際投資有限公司
BVI 10,000 shares of 

USD1 each

100% – 100% Investment holding
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Place of Proportion of ownership interest

incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s

establishment issued and paid effective Held by the Held by a

Name of company and business up capital interest company subsidiary Principal activity

1) Enterprises established outside the PRC (continued)

Bosideng UK Limited

波司登（英國）有限公司
United Kingdom GBP1 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of non-down apparels

Bosideng Retail Limited 

波司登零售有限公司
United Kingdom GBP1 100% – 100% Distribution of 

non-down apparels

Sunny Bright Global Investments Limited 

朗輝環球投資有限公司
British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)

50,000 shares 

of USD1 each

70% – 70% Sourcing and distribution 

of non-down Apparels

Jessie International Holdings Limited 

杰西國際控股有限公司
British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)

USD1 100% – 100% Investment holding

2) Wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC

Bosideng International Fashion 

 (China) Limited 

波司登國際服飾（中國）有限公司

PRC USD138,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of down apparels

Jiangsu Bosideng Garment 

 Development Co., Ltd. 

江蘇波司登服裝發展有限公司

PRC USD35,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of non-down Apparels

Talent Shine Import&Export 

 (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. 

迪輝達進出口（深圳）有限公司

PRC RMB8,300,000 70% – 100% Distribution of 

non-down apparels

Shanghai Bosideng Trade 

 Development Co. Ltd. 

上海波司登商貿發展有限公司

PRC RMB10,000,000 100% – 100% Distribution of 

down apparels

31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)
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Place of Proportion of ownership interest

incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s

establishment issued and paid effective Held by the Held by a

Name of company and business up capital interest company subsidiary Principal activity

3) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises established in the PRC

Bingjie Fashion Limited 

冰潔服飾有限公司
PRC USD68,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of down apparels

Bosideng Down Wear Limited 

波司登羽絨服裝有限公司
PRC USD80,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of down apparels

Kangbo Fashion Limited 

康博服飾有限公司
PRC USD85,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of down apparels

Shanghai Shuangyu Fashion Limited 

上海雙羽服飾有限公司
PRC USD68,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of down apparels

4) Domestic companies established in the PRC

Changshu Bosideng Advertising Co., Ltd. 

常熟市波司登廣告有限責任公司
PRC RMB10,000,000 100% – 100% Advertisement agency

Shanghai Kangbo International 

 Trading Co., Ltd. 

上海康波國際貿易有限公司

PRC RMB6,000,000 100% – 100% Import and 

export activities

Shenzhen Jessie Fashion Co., Ltd. 

深圳市杰西服裝有限責任公司
PRC RMB16,500,000 70% – 100% Sourcing and distribution 

of non-down apparels

Changshu Bosideng Import and 

 Export Co., Ltd. 

常熟市波司登進出口有限公司

PRC RMB5,000,000 100% – 100% Sourcing and 

distribution of OEM

Jiangsu Bosideng Marketing Co., Ltd. 

江蘇波司登營銷有限公司
PRC RMB100,000,000 100% – 100% Distribution of 

down apparels

31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)
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Place of Proportion of ownership interest

incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s

establishment issued and paid effective Held by the Held by a

Name of company and business up capital interest company subsidiary Principal activity

4) Domestic companies established in the PRC (continued)

Shanghai Bosideng Clothing 

 Trading Co., Ltd.

上海波司登服飾貿易有限公司

PRC RMB50,000,000 100% – 100% Distribution of 

down apparels

Shanghai Xugao Fashion Co., Ltd. 

上海旭高時裝有限公司
PRC RMB200,200,000 51% – 51% Distribution of 

non-down apparels

Shanghai Bosideng Information 

 Technology Co., Ltd.

上海波司登信息科技有限公司

PRC RMB38,000,000 100% – 100% Network consulting and 

e-business of down and 

non-down apparels

Shanghai Xuezhongfei Enterprise Co., Ltd. 

上海雪中飛實業有限公司
PRC RMB50,000,000 100% – 100% Distribution of 

down apparels

Shanghai Bosideng electronic 

 commerce Co., Ltd. 

上海波司登電子商務有限公司

PRC RMB28,000,000 100% – 100% E-commerce of down and 

non-down apparels

i) The English translation of the names of the companies registered in the PRC above is for reference only. The 

official names of these companies are in Chinese.

As at March 31, 2014 and 2013, none of the Group’s subsidiaries have non-controlling interests that are material to 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)
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31 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) A trust for the Share Award Scheme (the “Trust”)

On September 23, 2011, the Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), which is not 

subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, to recognize and reward the contribution of certain 

eligible employees to the growth and development of the Group through an award of the Company’s shares. The 

Share Award Scheme will remain in force for a period commencing on September 23, 2011 and ending on March 31, 

2018.

The Company has appointed a trustee for administration of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”). The principal 

activity of the Trustee is administrating and holding the Company’s shares for the Share Award Scheme for the 

benefit of the Company’s eligible employees. Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Company’s shares will be 

purchased by the Trustee in the market out of cash contributed by the Company and held in the Trust for relevant 

employees until such shares are vested in the relevant beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of the Share 

Award Scheme at no cost. The total number of the Company’s shares held by the Trustee under the Share Award 

Scheme will not exceed 1.5% of the total issued shares of the Company at any time.

As the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the Trust and can derive benefits 

from the contributions of the employees who have been awarded the shares of the Company (the “Awarded 

Shares”) through their continued employment with the Group, the Group is required to consolidate the Trust.

As at March 31, 2014, the Company had contributed RMB121,228,000 to the Trust and the amount was recorded as 

“Investment in subsidiaries” in the Company’s balance sheet.

As at March 31, 2014, the Trustee had purchased 53,508,000 shares (March 31, 2013: 53,508,000 shares) of the 

Company at a total cost (including related transaction costs) of RMB71,778,000 (March 31, 2013: RMB71,778,000). 

No shares had been awarded to eligible employees as of March 31, 2014 under the Share Award Scheme.
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32 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

The following list contains the particulars of the associates, all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted 

market price is not available:

      

 Proportion of ownership interest

Form of Place of Particulars of Group’s

business incorporation issued and paid effective Held by the Held by a

Name of associate structure and business up capital interest company subsidiary Principal activity

New Prosperous Trading 

 Development Ltd.

新富貿易發展有限公司

Incorporated British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)

50,000

ordinary shares of 

USD1 each

21% – 30% Sourcing and distribution of 

non-down apparels

Union Techwell Development Ltd.

聯得發展有限公司
Incorporated British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)

50,000

ordinary shares of 

USD1 each

21% – 30% Sourcing and distribution of 

non-down apparels

Note 1: These companies and their subsidiaries are principally engaged in the research, design and development, 
raw materials procurement, outsourced manufacturing, marketing and distribution of “BUOU BUOU” branded 
ladieswear apparels in the PRC market.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

As at March 31, 2014 and 2013, none of the Group’s associates are material to the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates 

 in the consolidated financial statements 167,585 –

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those associates’   

 Profit from continuing operations 17,585 –
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(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity 

is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual 

components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

      

Share Share Capital Translation Retained

capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 33(c)) (note 33(e)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(d))

Balance at March 31, 2012

Changes in equity for 2012: 622 1,956,392 76,066 (784,578) 213,477 1,461,979

Loss for the year – – – – (78,333) (78,333)

Foreign currency translation 

 differences – foreign operations – – – (8,674) – (8,674)

Dividends (note 33(b)) – (1,170,675) – – – (1,170,675)

Balance at March 31, 2013 622 785,717 76,066 (793,252) 135,144 204,297

Changes in equity for 2013:

Profit for the year – – – – 1,390,762 1,390,762

Foreign currency translation 

 differences – foreign operations – – – (125) – (125)

Dividends (note 33(b)) – (648,153) – – – (648,153)

Balance at March 31, 2014 622 137,564 76,066 (793,377) 1,525,906 946,781
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Interim dividend declared and paid of RMB2.9 cents per 

 ordinary share (2013: interim dividend of RMB4.9 cents per 

 ordinary share) 234,410 389,958

Final dividend proposed after balance sheet date of 

 RMB1.6 cents per ordinary share (2013: RMB5.2 cents per 

 ordinary share) 127,131 413,743
 

361,541 803,701
 

The final dividends proposed after the balance sheet date have not been recognized as a liability at the 

balance sheet date.

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous financial year, 

approved and paid during the year:

  

For the year ended March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, 

 approved and paid during the year, of RMB5.2 cents per 

 ordinary share (2013: final dividend of RMB9.8 cents per 

 ordinary share) 413,743 780,717
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(c) Share capital

Movements in the authorized and issued and fully paid share capital of the Company during the years are as 

follows:

    

2014 2013

No. of shares No. of shares  

(’000) RMB’000 (’000) RMB’000
  

Authorized:     

Ordinary shares 20,000,000 1,556 20,000,000 1,556
  

USD equivalent (’000) 200 200
  

Ordinary shares, issued and 

 fully paid:

At April 1 and March 31 8,007,350 622 8,007,350 622
  

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 

one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s 

residual assets.

Authorized share capital

The Company was incorporated on July 10, 2006 with an authorized share capital of USD100, divided into 100 

shares of par value of USD1.00 each. Through a series of changes in share capital, the authorized share capital is 

USD200,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of USD0.00001 each after the completion of the Hong 

Kong Public Offering and the International Placing.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Capital reserves

The capital reserves at March 31, 2014 and 2013 represent the value of employee services in respect of 

shares granted to employees and consultants.

(ii) Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves were established in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the 

articles of association of the entities now comprising the Group which are incorporated in the PRC. Transfers 

to the reserves were approved by the respective boards of directors.
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserves

The foreign currency translation reserves comprise all foreign exchange differences arising from the 

translation of the financial statements of the operations outside the PRC which are dealt with in accordance 

with the accounting policies as set out in note 3(b).

(iv) Fair value reserves

The fair value reserves comprise the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 

assets until the investments are derecognized or impaired.

(e) Distributable reserves

Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, all reserves 

(including share premium and retained earnings) of the Company may be applied for payment of distributions or 

dividends to equity shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the distribution or dividend 

is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

At March 31, 2014, distributable reserves (including share premium and retained earnings) of the Company 

amounted to RMB946,159,000 (2013: RMB203,675,000).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing 

products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the 

higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security 

afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 

conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, 

adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, and obligations 

under finance leases but excludes redeemable preference shares) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and 

cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity and redeemable preference shares, other 

than amounts recognized in equity relating to cash flow hedges, less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2013, was to maintain 

the adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the lower end of the range 10% to 30%. In order to maintain or adjust 

the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to 

shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(f) Capital management (continued)

The adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio as at March 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

    

The Group The Company

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Current liabilities:     

Interest-bearing borrowings 28 1,048,638 1,736,988 771,978 1,736,888
  

Non-current liabilities:

Interest-bearing borrowings 28 2,210,514 919,098 2,060,514 919,098
  

Total debt 3,259,152 2,656,086 2,832,492 2,655,986

Add: Proposed dividends 33(b) 126,381 410,978 127,231 413,743

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 27 (2,117,996) (1,935,356) (130,603) (220,270)
  

Adjusted net debt 1,267,537 1,131,708 2,829,120 2,849,459
  

Total equity 7,154,889 7,098,387 946,781 204,297

Less: Proposed dividends 33(b) (126,381) (410,978) (127,231) (413,743)
  

Adjusted capital 7,028,508 6,687,409 819,550 (209,446)
  

Adjusted net debt – to-capital ratio 18.0% 16.9% 345.2% ∞
  

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group 

is also exposed to business risks primarily arising from the weather conditions and competition.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to manage 

these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

(i) Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and receivables due from 

related parties. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an 

ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers 

requiring credit over a certain amount. These receivables are in general due within 30 to 90 days from the 

date of billing. Debtors with overdue balances are requested to settle all outstanding balances before any 

further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

The default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk 

but to a lesser extent. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral is represented by the carrying 

amount of trade and other receivables and receivables due from related parties in the balance sheet after 

deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide any other guarantees which would expose 

the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and 

other receivables are set out in note 22.

(ii) Deposits with banks

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institutions with established 

credit ratings. Given the credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to 

meet its obligations.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets and other financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets and other financial assets are arranged with financial institutions with 

established credit ratings. Pursuant to the agreements with the financial institutions, there is limited credit 

risk on the principal amounts, as majority of these are guaranteed by the financial institutions.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending 

covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realizable marketable securities and 

adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short 

and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the 

Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments 

computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest 

date the Group and the Company can be required to pay:

            

2014 2013

Contractual undiscounted cash flow Contractual undiscounted cash flow

Within 1

year

 or on

demand

More than

1 year but

less than

2 years

More than

2 years

 but less 

than

5 years

More than

5 years Total

Balance

sheet

carrying

amount

Within 1

year or

on

demand

More than

1 year

less than

2 years

More than

2 years but

less than

5 years

More than

5 years Total

Balance

sheet

carrying

amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

The Group

Interest-bearing borrowings 1,107,962 1,275,931 1,029,468 – 3,413,361 3,259,152 1,777,139 23,815 951,383 – 2,752,337 2,656,086

Trade and other payables 1,558,758 – – – 1,558,758 1,558,758 1,618,632 – – – 1,618,632 1,618,632

Payables due to related 

 parties 2,806 – – – 2,806 2,806 12,237 – – – 12,237 12,237

Non-current other payables – 191,097 – – 191,097 181,691 – – 191,939 – 191,939 179,268
      

2,669,526 1,467,028 1,029,468 – 5,166,022 5,002,407 3,408,008 23,815 1,143,322 – 4,575,145 4,466,223
      

The Company

Interest-bearing borrowings 827,450 1,125,611 1,029,468 – 2,982,529 2,832,492 1,777,038 23,815 951,383 – 2,752,236 2,655,986

Trade and other payables 4,558 – – – 4,558 4,558 7,058 – – – 7,058 7,058
      

832,008 1,125,611 1,029,468 – 2,987,087 2,837,050 1,784,096 23,815 951,383 – 2,759,294 2,663,044
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

(i) Interest rate profile

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. The following table details 

the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities at 

the balance sheet date:

    

2014 2013

Effective Effective  

Interest rate RMB’000 Interest rate RMB’000
  

The Group     

Interest-bearing borrowings 2.11% (3,259,152) 2.61% (2,656,086)

Pledged bank deposits 3.42% 468,933 3.30% 1,412,781

Time deposits with maturity 

 over 3 months 2.92% 147,400 3.07% 233,230

Cash and cash equivalents 0.47% 2,117,996 0.59% 1,935,356

Other financial assets 6.17% 420,000 4.85% 460,000
  

(104,823) 1,385,281
  

The Company

Interest-bearing borrowings 2.23% (2,832,492) 2.61% (2,655,986)

Cash and cash equivalents 0.04% 130,603 0.04% 220,270
  

(2,701,889) (2,435,716)
  

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At March 31, 2014, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with 

all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings 

for the year by approximately RMB8,389,000 (2013: increase/decrease by approximately RMB4,461,000). 

Other components of equity would not be affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had 

occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial 

instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents management’s 

assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance 

sheet date.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB have to take 

place through the People’s Bank of China or other institutions authorized to buy and sell foreign exchange. The 

exchange rates adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by the People’s 

Bank of China that are determined largely by supply and demand. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk 

primarily through bank deposits and interest-bearing borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than 

the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 

United States Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars.

(i) Exposure to foreign currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s major exposures at the balance sheet date to 

foreign currency risk arising from recognized assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the 

functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

The Group

    

At March 31, 2014 At March 31, 2013

USD’000 HKD’000 USD’000 HKD’000
   

Bank deposits 339 224,645 2,447 236,718

Trade receivables 8,745 – 9,773 –

Prepayments for materials and 

 service suppliers 12,603 – 4,521 –

Trade payables (239) – (5,453) –

Interest-bearing borrowings – (759,131) – (1,878,995)
  

21,448 (534,486) 11,288 (1,642,277)
  

The Company

  

At March 31,

2014 2013

HKD’000 HKD’000
 

Bank deposits 63,368 78,261

Interest-bearing borrowings (570,000) (1,878,995)
 

(506,632) (1,800,734)
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings) 

in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant 

exposure at the balance sheet date. The sensitivity analysis includes bank deposits where the denomination 

of the balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies.

    

2014 2013

Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on

(decrease) profit after (decrease) profit after

in foreign tax and in foreign tax and

exchange retained exchange retained

rate earnings rate earnings

% RMB’000 % RMB’000
   

Hong Kong dollars 10% (42,386) 10% (132,633)

United States dollars 10% 9,896 10% 5,308
  

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates had 

occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to foreign 

currency risk for both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that 

all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange 

rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.

The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign 

currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

(e) Business risk

The Group’s primary business is research, design and development, raw materials procurement, outsourced 

manufacturing, marketing and distribution of branded down apparel products, which experiences seasonal 

fluctuations. As such, the sales volumes and revenue in the second half of the financial year are normally 

substantially higher than those during the first half of the financial year. The Group’s financial results are influenced 

by the weather conditions during the year and the rapidity with which designs are copied by competitors and 

reproduced at lower prices, as well as by the Group’s ability to develop new designs that capture market demand, 

maintain an effective distribution network, manufacture sufficient quantities to meet cyclical sales, and manage an 

optimal level of inventories. Based on these factors, the Group may experience significant fluctuations in its future 

financial results.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the balance 

sheet date on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, 

Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with 

reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet 

Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which 

market data are not available;

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

The Group

   

Fair value at

March 31,2014

Fair value measurements as at 

March 31, 2014 categorized into

Significant

other 

observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

inputs (Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,082,930 2,082,930 –

   

Financial liabilities:

Derivative financial liabilities 12,050 – 12,050

Contingent consideration payable 659 – 659
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

   

Fair value at 

March 31, 2013

Fair value measurements as at

March 31, 2013 categorized into

Significant 

other 

observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,642,784 1,642,784 –

   

Financial liabilities:

Derivative financial liabilities 10,400 10,400 –

Contingent consideration payable 5,382 – 5,382

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets in Level 2 is determined by reference to quoted prices of 

instruments similar to the assets being valued, adjusted for factors unique to the assets being valued.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of derivative financial liabilities is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques with 

significant unobservable inputs.

The fair value of contingent consideration payable is determined by using the income approach based on the 

expected payment amounts and their associated probabilities. When appropriate, it is discounted to present 

value.

(ii) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortized cost are not 

materially different from their fair values as at March 31, 2013 and 2014.
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35 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments of the Group in respect of plant, property and equipment outstanding at March 31, 2014 not 

provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

  

The Group

At March 31,

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Contracted for 106,569 75,478

Authorized but not contracted for 3,400 30,281
 

109,969 105,759
 

The Company had no capital commitments outstanding at March 31, 2014.

(b) Operating lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

    

The Group

At March 31,

The Company

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 year 159,617 141,688 404 403

After 1 year but within 5 years 133,635 195,271 101 504

Over 5 years 6,173 3,464 – –
  

299,425 340,423 505 907
  

The Group leases a number of warehouses, factory facilities and office premises under operating leases. The leases 

typically run for an initial period of between one and six years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. 

Lease payments are usually increased annually to reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes contingent 

rentals. In addition to the above, the Group operates retail outlets under concessionaire arrangements. The 

concessionaire fees, calculated based on a percentage of revenue for the year, were RMB795,003,000 for the year 

ended March 31, 2014 (2013: RMB682,609,000).

(c) Contingent liabilities 

As at March 31, 2014, the Group and the Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, transactions with the following parties are considered as related party transactions.

Name of party Relationship

Bosideng Corporation Effectively controlled by Mr. Gao Dekang

波司登股份有限公司 and his family (“the Gao Family”),

the controlling equity shareholders of the Group

Shandong Kangbo Industry Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Kangbo”) Effectively controlled by the Gao Family,

山東康博實業有限公司（「山東康博」） the controlling equity shareholders of the Group

Jiangsu Suyong International Trade Co., Ltd. 

 (“Jiangsu Suyong”) Effectively controlled by the Gao Family,

江蘇蘇甬國際貿易有限公司（「江蘇蘇甬」） the controlling equity shareholders of the Group

Jiangsu Kangxin Garment Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Kangxin”) Effectively controlled by the Gao Family,

江蘇康欣制衣有限公司（「江蘇康欣」） the controlling equity shareholders of the Group

Zhongke Bosideng Nanotech Garment (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Effectively controlled by the Gao Family,

 (“Zhongke Bosideng”) the controlling equity shareholders of the Group

中科波司登納米服飾（蘇州）有限公司（「中科波司登」）
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Transactions with fellow subsidiaries

    

 The Group for the year 

ended March 31,

The Company for the year 

ended March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Purchase of raw materials

Bosideng Corporation 449 171 – –

Zhongke Bosideng 2,661 3,487 – –

Jiangsu Kangxin 10 – – –
  

Total 3,120 3,658 – –
  

Rental expenses for lease of properties

Bosideng Corporation 6,934 7,466 – –

Shandong Kangbo 2,165 2,135 – –

Jiangsu Suyong 5,448 2,185 – –
  

Total 14,547 11,786 – –
  

Processing fee

Bosideng Corporation 477,551 396,983 – –

Shandong Kangbo 583 27,805 – –

Jiangsu Kangxin 4,605 4,577 – –

Jiangsu Suyong – 640 – –
  

Total 482,739 430,005 – –
  

Integrated service fees

Bosideng Corporation (i) 12,828 3,700 – –
  

Total 12,828 3,700 – –
  

Key management personnel remuneration is disclosed in note 12.
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Transactions with fellow subsidiaries (continued)

(i) The fees were mainly paid to a hotel owned by Bosideng Corporation, which provided hotel accommodation 

services to the Group, and property management fee paid to a property management company owned by 

Bosideng Corporation.

The related party transactions above constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions 

as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are 

provided in section Continuing Connected Transactions of the Reports of the directors.

(b) Balances with related parties

    

The Group 

At March 31,

The Company 

At March 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Other receivables due from:

Bosideng Corporation 144,045 94,382 – –

Jiangsu Kangxin 95 13 – –

Jiangsu Suyong 121 – – –
  

144,261 94,395 – –
  

Total receivables due from 

 related parties 144,261 94,395 – –
  

Trade payables due to:

Shandong Kangbo 1,397 9,875 – –

Zhongke Bosideng 875 1,828 – –
  

2,272 11,703 – –
  

Other payables due to:

Shandong Kangbo 534 534 – –
  

Total payables due to related parties 2,806 12,237 – –
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37 POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to March 31, 2014, the Company proposed a final dividend of RMB127,131,000, representing RMB1.6 cents per 

ordinary share to the equity shareholders of the Company.

38 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The directors consider the ultimate holding company of the Company as at March 31, 2014 to be Kong Bo Investment 

Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

39 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a few amendments and a new standard which are 

not yet effective for the year ended March 31, 2014 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These 

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

In addition, the requirements of Part 9, “Accounts and Audit”, of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) came 

into operation from the Company’s first financial year commencing after March 31, 2014 (i.e. the Company’s financial year 

which began on April 1, 2014) in accordance with section 358 of that Ordinance. The Group is in the process of making an 

assessment of the expected impact of the changes in the Companies Ordinance on the consolidated financial statements 

in the period of initial application of Part 9. So far it has concluded that the impact is unlikely to be significant and will 

primarily only affect the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated financial statements.

Effective for 

accounting period 

beginning on or after

(unless specified)

Amendments to IAS 32, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities January 1, 2014

Amendments to IAS 39, Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting January 1, 2014

IFRS 9, Financial instruments To be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in the 

period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 

consolidated financial statements.
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